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Briefing Note – Information  

505th  Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 
 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 
  
 

 
   
 
 
 
 

 
Thursday, March 10, 2016 

1. Reception – 5:30 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. 
Dinner – 6:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. 
(8th

 
 Floor Dining Room) 

 
2. Plenary Session – 7:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. 

(8th

1. Emerging Disciplines Challenges 
 Floor Council Chambers) 

2. PSC Processes and Priorities 
3. Engineers Canada Challenges and 

Opportunities 

C-505 - PLENARY 



Briefing Note - Decision 

 
505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
     
Purpose:  To approve the agenda for the meeting. 
 
 
Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry) 
 
That: 
a) the agenda, as presented to the meeting at C-505-1.1, Appendix A be approved; and 
b) the Chair be authorized to suspend the regular order of business.  
 
Prepared by: Dale Power, Secretariat Administrator    
 
 
Appendices: 

• Appendix A – 505th Council meeting agenda 

C-505-1.1 



 

 
 

 

Agenda 
REVISED 

  
505t h

Professional  Engineers Ontario 
 Meeting of the Counci l  

 
Date:   Thursday,  March 10 and Friday,  March 11,  2016 
Time: Thursday -  5:30 p.m. – reception; 6:00 p.m. – dinner;  

7:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. – meeting 
Friday – 9:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m. 

Place:   PEO Offices – 8t h  Floor Counci l  Chambers  OR
  40 Sheppard Avenue West,  Toronto,  ON  Partic ipant Code:  9394319# 

 Dial- in: 1-888-866-3653 

   
Thursday,  March 10h – 7:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. 

 Spokesperson 

1.  EMERGING DISCIPLINES CHALLENGES (30 MIN)  
PLENARY SESSION 

2.  PSC PROCESSES AND PRIORITIES (30 MIN)  
3.  ENGINEERS CANADA CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES 

(60 MIN)  

 
Peter DeVita  
Nick Pfei ffer,  Chair,  PSC 
Chris Roney, Engineers Canada 
President-Elect  

 
Fr iday,  March 11t h  – 9:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m.  

CALL TO ORDER 

1.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND LEADERSHIP REPORTS Spokesperson/ 
Moved by  

Type 

1.1 APPROVAL OF AGENDA Chair  Decision 

1.2 PRESIDENT/REGISTRAR’S REPORT Chair/Registrar  Information 

2.  PRIORITY ITEMS Spokesperson/ 
Moved by  

Type 

2.1 2015 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Chetan Mehta Decision 

2.2 RECOMMENDATION OF AN AUDITOR FOR 2016 Chetan Mehta Decision 

2.3 TERMS OF REFERENCE – INVESTMENT SUBCOMMITTEE Chetan Mehta Decision 

Secretariat Note :   Items 2.4 Statement of Investment Policy and Procedures  and 2.5 Investment 
Policy  have been removed from the agenda and wil l  be brought to  Counci l  at  a  future meeting.   

2.6 LICENSING COMMITTEE – ONTARIO LABOUR MOBILITY 
ACT 

President-elect 
Comrie 

Decision 

2.7 STRATEGIC PLAN – COMMUNICATIONS President-elect Decision 

C-505-1.1 
Appendix A 



 

INFRASTRUCTURE ENGINEERING Comrie 

2.8 OSPE MEMBERSHIP FEE REIMBURSEMENT FOR ELIGIBLE 
PEO COUNCILLORS AND STAFF 

Counci l lor Spink Decision 

2.9 PROCEDURE FOR APPOINTMENT OF PEO DIRECTORS TO 
ENGINEERS CANADA BOARD 

Registrar McDonald/  
Counci l lor Kidd  

Decision 

2.10 APPOINTMENT OF PEO DIRECTORS TO ENGINEERS 
CANADA BOARD 

Registrar McDonald/  
Counci l lor Turnbull  

Decision 

2.11 PROMOTION OF OSPE ON PEO FEE RENEWAL FORM Counci l lor Turnbull  Decision 

2.12 INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CONTINUING 
ENGINEERS EDUCATION (IACEE) CONFERENCE 

Counci l lor Brown Decision 

3.  CONSENT AGENDA Spokesperson/ 
Moved by  

Type 

3.1 OPEN SESSION MINUTES – 504T H Chair   COUNCIL MEETING – 
FEBRUARY 5,  2016 

Decision 

3.2 LIMITED ENGINEERING LICENSEE AND LICENSED 
ENGINEERING TECHNOLOGIST – APPROVAL OF SEAL 
DESIGNS 

Jordan Max/  
Counci l lor Fraser  

Decision 

3.3 APPROVAL OF CEDC APPLICATIONS Counci l lor Gupta Decision 

3.4 CHANGES TO COMMITTEES/TASK FORCES ROSTER Fern Goncalves/  
Counci l lor Colucci  

Decision 

3.5 AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK PLAN Chetan Mehta Decision 

4.  IN-CAMERA  Spokesperson/ 
Moved by  

Type 

4.1 IN-CAMERA MINUTES – 504T H Chair   COUNCIL MEETING – 
FEBRUARY 5,  2016 

Decision 

4.2 HRC UPDATE President-elect 
Comrie 

Information 

4.3 DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE – DECISIONS AND REASONS Linda Latham Information 

4.4 LEGAL UPDATE  L inda Latham Information 

4.5 PEO’S ANTI-WORKPLACE VIOLENCE AND HARASSMENT 
POLICY – COUNCILLOR VIOLATIONS, IF ANY 

Chair  Information 

5.  INFORMATION ITEMS Spokesperson/ 
Moved by  

Type 

ONGOING ITEMS 

5.1 APTIFY UPDATE Registrar McDonald Information 

5.2 STRATEGIC PLAN UPDATE Registrar McDonald Information 

5.3 LEGISLATION COMMITTEE UPDATE Counci l lor Fraser  Information 



 

5.4 RCC UPDATE Counci l lor Sadr  Information 

5.5 (CP)² UPDATE Counci l lor Turnbull  Information 

5.6 STATISTICS -  COMPLAINTS, DISCIPLINE, L ICENSING AND 
REGISTRATION UPDATE 

Latham/Price/ 
Zuccon 

Information 

5.7 COUNCILLOR ITEMS Chair  Information 

CONCLUSION 

 

 
Councillors Code of Conduct 

 
Counci l  expects of itse lf  and its  members ethical,  business- l ike and lawful conduct .  This includes 
f iduciary responsibi l ity,  proper use of authority and appropriate decorum when act ing as Council  
members or as external representatives of the association. Counci l  expects its  members to treat 
one another and staff  members with respect ,  cooperation and a wi l l ingness to deal openly on al l  
matters.  
 
PEO is  committed that  its  operat ions and business wil l  be conducted in an ethical  and legal  
manner. Each partic ipant (volunteer)  is  expected to be fami l iar with,  and to adhere to,  this code 
as a condit ion of their  involvement in PEO business.  Each part icipant shal l  conduct PEO business 
with honesty,  integr ity and fairness and in accordance with the applicable laws. The Code of 
Conduct is  intended to provide the terms and/or spir i t  upon which acceptable/unacceptable 
conduct is  determined and addressed.  
 
At its  September 2006 meeting,  Council  determined that PEO volunteers should meet the same 
obligations and standards regarding conduct when engaged in PEO activit ies as they are when 
engaged in business  activ it ies as professional engineers.  
 
[ s .  2.4 o f  the  Counc i l  Manual ]  

Friday,  Apr i l  29,  2016 – Volunteer Leadership Conference, Royal  York Hotel,  Toronto 
Upcoming Events  

Friday,  Apr i l  29,  2016 – Order of Honour Awards Gala,  Royal York Hotel,  Toronto, 
Ontario  
Saturday, Apri l  30,  2016 -  Annual General  Meeting,  Royal York Hotel,  Toronto, 
Ontario    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

    
2016 Counci l  Committe Meeting/Mail ing Schedule 

2016 Council Mailing Schedule 
 

Meeting Date 
 

Meeting 
Type 

 
Initial BN 

Due Date – 
Members at 

Large 

 
Initial BN 

Due Date –  
Councillors/Staff 

 
Initial 

Agenda 
Mailing 

Date 

 
Supp. Agenda 

Due Date   
1 

 
Supp. 

Agenda 
Mailing Date 

April 30 Council 2 N/A April 12 April 15 April 19 April 22 
 

1  -  requires  the approval of the Chair or Registrar  
2  -  new Counci l lors to be invited as  soon as information is  avai lable 
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505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
PRESIDENT’S/REGISTRAR’S REPORT 
    
Purpose:   To inform Council of the recent activities of the President and the Registrar. 
 
Motion(s) to consider:  
 
none required  
 
 
President Chong and Registrar McDonald will provide an oral report on their recent PEO 
activities. 
 

 
 

C-505-1.2 
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505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
2015 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
    
Purpose: To approve the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 
and the Auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Motions to consider:  
That Council: 

a) approve the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, and 
the Auditor’s report thereon, as presented to the meeting at C-505-2.1, Appendix A; and 

b) authorize the President and President-elect to sign the Audited Financial Statements on 
Council’s behalf. 

Prepared by: Chetan Mehta, MS, MBA – Manager, Financial Services and Business Planning 
Motion Sponsor: Ewald Kuczera, P.Eng. – Chair, Audit Committee 
 
1. Need for PEO Action 
PEO’s governing legislation and its By-laws require that Council approve the audited financial 
statements of the Association for presentation to members at PEO’s Annual General Meeting and 
that the statements be published on PEO’s website for access to all members. 
 
The Audit Committee’s legislated mandate approved by Council is to: 

- Oversee the auditing of the Association’s financial statements by an external auditor; and 
- Monitor the accounting and financial reporting processes and systems of internal control. 
 

PEO By-Law No. 1, section 51 states: 
 
The Council shall lay before each Annual Meeting of the members a financial statement prepared 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for the previous fiscal year of the 
association (made up of a balance sheet as at the end of such fiscal year and statements of 
revenue and expenditure and members’ equity for such fiscal year) together with the report of the 
association’s auditors on the financial statement.  The financial statement with (a summary of) the 
auditor’s report shall be published in the official publication of the association after its approval by 
the Council. 
  
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
That Council approve the Audited Financial Statements and the auditor’s report thereon for the 
year ended December 31, 2015 for presentation to members at the 2016 Annual General Meeting, 
and that the statements be published on PEO’s website and in the next edition of Engineering 
Dimensions, as required by legislation and PEO’s by-laws. 
 
3. Next Steps 
Once the 2015 Financial Statements are approved and signed by the President and President-
elect, the audited financial statements will be available to members at the 2016 Annual General 
Meeting and the statements will be published on PEO’s website in April and in the next edition of 
Engineering Dimensions. 
 
A Q&A on PEO’s operations for 2015 will be developed for the 2016 Annual General Meeting 
based on anticipated questions.  A Financial Report and financial statement analysis will be 
prepared and published. 
.  

C-505-2.1 



505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
Page 2 of 2 

4. Peer Review & Process Followed 
 
Process 
Followed 

On March 2, 2016, the 2015 Audited Financial Statements and auditor’s report 
were presented to the Audit Committee for review, discussion and approval.   
 
On March 3, 2016, the 2015 Audited Financial Statements and auditor’s report 
were presented to the Finance Committee for review and discussion.   

Council 
Identified 
Review 

 

Actual 
Motion 
Review 

On March 2, 2016, the Audit Committee approved the 2015 Audited Financial 
Statements and auditor’s report and recommended they be presented to Council 
for approval.   

 
5. Appendices 

Appendix A – 2015 Audited Financial Statements and Auditor’s report 
Appendix B – Audit Committee Report – year ended December 31, 2015 
 



Financial statements of

Association of fession
Engineers of tario
December 31,2015

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
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Association of Professional Bngineers of Ontario
December 31, 2015
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of material
The

Deloitte LLP
5140 Yonge
Su¡te 1700
Toronto ON
Canada

617

Tel: 4 1-61 50
Fax: 1-6151

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of
Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of of Engineers
of Ontario, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 and statements of revenue,

a summary of significantexpenses and changes in net assets and cash flows for the then
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibil¡ty for the Financial

Management is responsible for the fair of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting organizations, and for such intemal
control as management determines is to of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, to

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opmron on fìnancial statements based on our audit. Ifúe

conducted our audit in
require that we comply

generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards

assurance about whether

ents

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of ofthe financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation
and fair statements in order.to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
intemal includes evaluating the appropriateness ofaccounting policies used and the

of estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
of the al statements.

e believe that audit evidence we have obtained is suflicient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY



Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial of the

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario as at December 3 I , 201 5 and the results of operations

and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance

not-for-profit organizations.

with Canadian accounting for

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
March ll,2016

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
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other ¡tems
expenses

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Statement of revenue and expenses and changes in net assets

ended December 31,2015
2015

15,1

6, 234

,016

14,840

2014

$

72

Revenue
P- Eng revenue
Application, registration, examination and other fees

Buildíng operations (Note 4)
Advertising income
lnvestment income

Expenses
Staff salaries and benefits/Retiree and future benefits

Building operations (Note 4)
Purchased services
Engineers Canada
Amortization
Chapters (Note 13)
Volunteer expenses
Occupancy costs (Note 4)
Computers and telePhone
Legal (corporate, prosecution and tribunal)

Transaction fees
Contract staff
Postage and courier
Consultants
Recognition, grants and awards
Professional develoPment
Office supplies
Printing
lnsurance
Staff expenses

Excess of revenue undernoted

Council

9 21

151

924,528
793,066
786,767
765,874
715,813
567,744
508,253
496,237.
475,676
362,605
162,239
155,251
131,955
128,446
105,784
104,307

10,303,016
2,362,885
1,090,528

901,420
978,437
722,121
761,264
732,760
773,95',1

649,465
508,034
666,368
424,151
240,43'l
187,667
109,170
121,723
161,002

97,304
91,355

71 2'l

1,002,165 1,409,751
15

N

Excess of revenue
Remeasurement

1

1

The accompanying notes to the fìnancial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.

931,.176
(2,136,510)

1,349,236
390,900

531

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
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37 711

9,398,570

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Balance sheet
as at December 31,2015

2015
$

2,174,710
9,067,1l g

,704
159

204,332

9,218,033

37 729

1,385,054
8,843,131

2014

Assets
Current assets

Cash in interest bearing accounts
Marketable securities at fair value
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits

assets

Liabilities
Cunent liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 15)
Fees in advance and deposits

of debt

Long-term
Long-term debt (Note 5)

future benefits

I 1

767
4

12,169,929 11,129,195

7,539,000 9,467,000
11 1 1

32,783,729 30,749,295
Net assets 1 143 1

Approved by the Board

Director

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.

77

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
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4,147,621

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Statement of cash flows

ear ended December 31,2015
2015

Operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash

Amortization
Amortization - other assets
Employee future benefits expensed
Change in unrealized losses on marketable securitíes

on of marketable securities

items ote I

Financing activities
Repayment of mòrtgage

to future benefìt

lnvesting activities
Net change in marketable securities
Additions to capital assets

1 805

2014
$

931 1,349,

56,323

98,
,418,300
(68,450)
37 12

4,583,912

(90r,000) (878,000)

1

(147,608)
(2,447,3781

(950,351)
(2,124,541)

1

1

1

to other

lncrease (decrease) ín cash 171,U6 (1,31,2,357)
of 1

The accompanying notes to the fìnancial statements are an integral part of this fìnancial statement.
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ln addition,
and conditions
for hedge

such

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements

December 31 2015

1 Nature of oPerations

The Association of Professional Eng ineers of Ontario ('PEO) was incorporated Act of the

Legislature of the Province of Ontario. Its princípal activities include regulating practice of

professional engineering, and establishing and maintaining standards of skilland

among its members in order to Protect the public interest. As a not-for-profìt

organization it is exemPt from tax under section 149(1) of the lncome Tax

2. Significant accounting Policies

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance

noi_for_profit organizations and reflect the following accounting

a) FinancÍal instruments

PEO initially recognizes financial instruments at fair

reporting date, as follows:

Assetlliabilitv

Cash and marketable securities
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

standards for

measures them at each

Fair value

at each reporting date for indications of
down and the resulting imPairment

expensês and changes in net assets for

Long term debt

Financial assets measured at

Transaction costs ar'e

impairment. lf such imPairment
loss shall be recognized in the
the period.

cost are

Amortized
Amortized
Amortized

shall

as incurred.

b) Hedge accounting

PEO entered into an rate swaP in to reduce the imPact offluctuating interest rates on

its long term debt. policy of PEO is to enter into interest rate swap agreements for trading or

speculative

The intergst
accounting,

and
the

specific the hedged item. The fair value of derivative instruments eligible

is generallY not recognized on the balance sheet. Gains and

losses are recognized in inccime in the same period as those ofthe hedged

item is recognized using the instrumenfs slated interest rate plus or minus

premium or discount and anY financing fees and transaction costs. Net

or payable on the interest rate swaP are recorded on the accrual basis of

recognized as an adjustment to interest on the hedged item in the Period in

which they

PEO may discontinue hedge accounting when one of the following situations arises:

item or the hedging item ceases to exist other than as designated and

critical terms of the hedging item cease to match those of the hedged item, including, but

not limited to, when it becomes probable

an ínterest rate swap will be prepaid.
that an interest bearing asset or liability hedged with

and

a)

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
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, any gain

Fund, is
ls

from its m
Donations

for
basis)

is prepared
cash

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements
December 31 2015

Significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Hedge accounting (continued)

When a hedging item ceases to exist, any gain or loss incured on the
item is recognized as an adjustment of the carrying amount of the hed

of the

When a hedged item ceases to exist, the critical terms of the hedging to
the hedged item, or it is no longer probable that an anticipated

2

of

designated or within 30 days of the maturity date of the hedging
in net income

c) Revenue recognition

License fee revenue, excluding the portion related to the B
a monthly basis over the license period. Building Fund
commencement of the license period. Other revenues

a)

f)

Capital

ln amount
recognized

nized as income on
íncome at the

the related services are

are not recorded in the

provided.

d) Donated seruices

The Association receives substantial donated through participatíon on
council and committees and ás chapter
accounts of the Association.

e) Employee future benefits.

Fension plans

the
periodically by ind-ependent

òn service. PEO uses the most rgcently
cornpleted actuarial valuation purposes (but not one prepared using a
solvency, wind-up, or simllar its defined benefit pension:¡ilan
obligations. A funding with pension legislation and regulations,
generally to determine to the plan.

The cost of PEO's benefit plan is determined periodically by independent
actuaries. PEO valuation performed every three years for measuring
its ed obligations. The valuatíon is based on the projected benefit
niethod on servlce.

For all benefit plans recognizes:

benefit net of the fair value of any plan assets, adjusted for any
in the ofchanges in net assets;

the for the year

recorded at cost. Amortízation is calculated on the straightline basis at the
following

Building

rates-

provements
ímprovembnts - common area

hardware and software
fixtures and telephone equipment

visual

2%
5%
3.3%1o 10%
33%
10%
20%

The Associatíon's investment in capital assets is included as part of Net assets on the Balance
sheet.

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
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ulated

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements

December 31 2015

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

d Use of esfimafes

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadían standards for

not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
date of the financíal statements and the reported amounts of revenue
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates-

estimates and assumPtions include capital assets, accrued liabil and

ses d the

that the
the

benefits.

2014
Net book

value

17,160,060
6,72O,281

5,O24,462
4,366,303

283,030

733,065
508,890

37 729

3. Capital assets

Building
Building improvements
Building improvements - common

area
Land
Computer hardware and software

Furniture, fixtures and telephone
equipment

Audio visual
Work in

Cost

2,078,747

781,986
628,967

l5
book
value

16,771,768
6,871,857

6,806,236
4,366,303

323,283

638,836
345,285

1 734

$$$

19,414,
8,

940 37 I

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements
December 31 20r5

Building operations

PEO maintains accounting records for the property located at 40 Sheppard Toronto, O

as a stand-alone operation for internal purposes. The results of the operation of building, prior e

elimination of recoveries and expenses related to PEO, are as follows:

2015 2014

4.

$

Revenue
Rental
Operating cost recoverable - tenants
Parking
Miscellaneous

.cost . PEO

Recoverable.expenses
Utilities
Property taxes
Amortization
Payroll
Janitorial
Repairs and maintenance
Property management and
Security
Administrative
Road and groqnd
lnsurance

Other expenses
lnterest
Amortization

Other

Building

802,831
1,045,263

136,950
98

27,016 2,083,065

298 190

516,349
449,510
485,984
236,916
204,674
179,295
82,618
34,q70
20.,045
18,720

872

M1,172
388,293

61,172

493,924
452,923
424,161
245,526
219,356
121,885
80,878
20,276
25,009
32,552
1

164

484,986
388,293

56,323
1

F

960
17

ofrevenue, expenses and changes in net assets, the operating cost
PEO have been eliminated. The portion of costs allocated to PEO is reallocated

and is included in Occupancy costs.

deferred costs

note

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
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of

on
installments of

security
facility

a swap

14,1

re benefits

retirees) are
pensron

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements

December 31 20t5

4. Buildingoperations(continued)

Building revenue per above
Eliminated PEO

Building expenses Per above
Eliminated PEO

5. Building financing

ln 2009, the Association financed $14,100,000 of the

5

2016
2017
2018
2019

from the Bank of Montreal, Capital Markets Division.
property located at 4O Sheppard Avenue West, a
of tenant leases. The facility is repayable in
March 11,2019 and bears a floating interest
outstanding at December 31,2015 is $8,467

Principal repayments are due as follows:

190

3,083,010
1

with a credit facilitY
by a first mortgage on the

and a general assignment
plus interest maturing on
acceptances. The balance

$

928,000
952,000
980,000

reement related to this loan, whereby the floatíng rate debt
rate of 4.95% and settled on a net basis. The Notional

date of the swap was March 11, 2009 with a maturity date of

and post-retírement benefits plan covering participating employees

benefit plans as defined in Section 3463 of the CPA Canada
provide pension benefits based on length of service and final average

benefits plan provides hospítalization, extended health care and dental

employees. Participation in the pension plans and benefits plan

has been closed to all new employees as of May 1, 2006. All emploYees

The Association has
is swapped for a
value of the swaP
March 11,2019.

6. Employee

The
(full

savings plan)
conlributíons

post-reti
after this have the

to

option of participating in a self-directed RRSP (registered retirement

tire Association recorded $202,951 (2014' $181,383) in employerring the year,
the self-directed RRSP

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY
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(z',t,671
22

the

for

each year.
, was as of

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements
December 3 1, 2015

b. Employee future benefits (continued)

The funded status of the Association's pension plans and post-retirement benefit
assumptions as of December 3'l , 2015 was as follows:

Basic Supplemental
on n

Accrued benefit obligation

$

(22,882,200)
Plan at fair value 600
Funded status - plan surplus

(deficit)
Valuation allowance

(857,600)

Defined benefit asset,

The funded status of the Association's pension
assumptions as of December 31, 2014 was as

Accrued benefit obligation
Plan assets at value
Funded status - plan surplus

(deficit)

asset,
of

PEO measures
as at December
valuation
non-benefit

The

using actuarial

Other

Total
$

(36,881,500)

(13,074,900)

benefit plan using actuarial

Other
non-pension
benefit Total

(1,563,500) (lI,810,300) (35,045,100)

(r
1

1

247,300 (11,810,300) (11,153.100)

247 1

7 Net

and the faír value of plan assets'for accounting purposes
recently completed actuarial valuation of the pension plans for
31,2014. The most recent completed actuarial valuation of the
was as of December 31,2014.

are restricted to be used at the discretisn of Council and includes the
in capital assets of 929,244302 (2014 - 927,694,729).

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY

Page 1 1



0,734,613 (201
(2014 -

Note 8.

liabilities

Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements
December 31 2A15

8. Gouncil discretionary reserye

The Council discretionary reserve is an internal allocation from the operating
díscretion of Council to fund expenses related to special projects approved by
the discretionary reserve were as follows:

" Legal Resene - Elliot Lake/Other
Privacy policy review
Emerging Discipline Task Force
Experienced Practitioners Task Force
National Frame Work Task Force

Full time salaries and benefits

During the year, the Association incurred a total of

ô

benefìts costs for its full time staff of which
projects approved by Council and disclosed

10. Ghange in non-cash working capital

Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and d
Accounts payable and accru
Fees in advance

11. Custodial account

The Association
Cash totaling in this

used at the
Expenses

2015 20'14

3,339
45,913
4,324
4,110

829
515

$10,367,673) for salary and
directly attributable to special

2014
$ $

i29,t55)
121,4461

789,656

(118,919)
(31,139)

(275,923)

$

1,181,943
606,934
271,106
233,280

sheet, as it in trust for ncil of Ontario Deans of Engineering.

12. Comm nts

has under non-cancelable operating leases for various service agreements.

bank account for the Councíl of Ontario Deans of Engineering.
(2014 - 9128,207) is not reported on the Association's balance

of the leases and agreements are as follows:
The
The

2016
2017
2018
2019
2920

2
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements
December 31 2015

13. Chapters of the Association

The financial information of the 36 chapters of the Association are individually not and,
therefore, have not been consolidated in these financial statements.
that the effort and cost required to prepare financial statements for each
purposes far exceed the benefits of doing so.

During lhe year, the Association paid chapter expenses totaling $793,066
$51 0,000 (2014 - $500,000) in chapter allotments and $283,066 (2014 - 2
disbursements to individual chapters. ln 2015, the Association also
(2014 - $502,351) related to chapter operations including staff and benefits,
support activities. These amounts have been íncluded in the operating
Statement of revenue and expenses and changes in net assets.

consolidation

121) cluding

of $518,375
for various
reported on the

14. Financial instruments and risk management

lnterest rate risk

PEO is exposed lo interest rate risk, which is the risk
with its investments will fluctuate as a result of
thís risk through use of an investment manager to

Liquidity rísk

PEO's objective is to have sufficient liquidity meet its
balances and cash flows generated from
the most significant financial liabilities

15. Governrnentrernittances

Accounls payables and accrued

the future cash flows associated
ln rates. Management addresses

and investmenls.

due. PEO monitors its cash
to meet requirements. As at December 31, 2015,

nd accrued liabilities, and long-term debt.

include (2014 - 5225,477), wíth respect to
government remittances at year end.
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Professional Engineers Ontario 

Audit Committee Report  
year ended December 31, 2015 

 
 

Highlights 
On behalf of the Audit Committee and management, I am pleased to advise you that the Audit 
Committee completed its review of the 2015 financial results and is recommending to Council the 
approval of the 2015 Audited Financial Statements in Appendix A.  The Audit Committee 
commended staff on the excellent work done and good results achieved. 
 
The Audit Committee is providing Council the attached summary (Appendix B-1) that compares 
2015 performance to 2014 performance.   
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, Professional Engineers Ontario (“PEO”) generated an 
excess of revenue over expenses of $1,002,165 (before Council discretionary reserve expenses) 
as compared to a surplus of $1,409,751 in 2014. This change in surplus was the result of an 
increase in revenue of $332,268 offset by an increase in expenses of $739,854.      
 
The surplus was reduced by Council discretionary reserve expenses of $70,989 in 2015 as 
compared to $60,515 in 2014. The 2015 Council deiscretionary reserve expenses consist of the 
privacy policy review, emerging task force expenses and legal fees for Elliot Lake and other 
matters.  
 
During the year, management undertook to control and reduce operational costs in light of 
economic conditions and building requirements. 
 
PEO fees remained frozen for the seventh consecutive year in 2015 and remain the lowest 
amongst engineering associations in Canada. All other fees remained unchanged. 
 
 
Revenue 
Total revenue of $23,715,419 was $332,268 or 1.4 per cent higher than the prior year due to the 
following: 
- $293,814 increase in P. Eng licence revenue representing a 2 per cent increase in the 

membership base, which is consistent with prior years; 
- $180,062 increase in application, registration, examination and other fees due to an increase 

in P. Eng registrations and the engineering intern membership base, an increase in 
examinations, an increase in discipline awards and a foreign exchange gain for translation of 
US dollar funds held at year end; and 

- $43,951 increase in building operations revenue due largely to the lease of additional 
antenna space to a telecommunications company in 2015. 
 

Offset by: 
- $122,666 decrease in investments income due to the downturn in the markets in the fourth 

quarter of 2015, which resulted in unrealized losses at year end; and 
- $62,893 decrease in advertising income due to the current market conditions. 
 
Expenses 
Total expenses of $22,713,254 were $739,854 or 3.4 per cent higher than the prior year, due 
primarily to the following: 
- $405,669 increase in staff salaries and benefits due largely to the annual approved cpi/merit 

salary increase, as well as the filling of positions vacant in 2014; 
- $262,297 increase in purchased services due to higher costs to manage the voting process 

for Council elections, a new audio-visual contract (AV) and higher AV costs at the Ontario 
Professional Engineers Awards gala due to Council approving an enhancement to the 



 
 

2 
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awardee vignettes, creation of an advisory board in Tribunals and a survey conducted, meal 
and other costs related to the new Volunteer Leadership Conference and an increase in 
costs to print/produce Engineering Dimensions. 

- $122,174 increase in consultants due largely to the Council-approved engagement of 
Deloitte to assist with the implementation of Aptify in light of the resignation of the Director, IT 
and the need for additional resources. This increase is offset by the savings in contract staff 
costs related to the Director, IT (see below).  In 2015, consultants were engaged for the 
CPDCQA Task Force, a review of PEO’s communications products and activities and other 
initiatives; 

- $81,793 increase in building operations due to an increase in repairs and maintenance and 
amortization for HVAC upgrades and plumbing repairs; 

- $70,945 increase in chapters expenses due to an increase in chapter allotments, certificate 
presentation costs, scholarship allotments, and travel costs;  

- $51,525 increase in postage and courier costs resulting from an increase in mailings for 
Council elections, issuing of licences, and mailing of Engineering Dimensions; and 

- $46,081 increase in professional development expenses due to an increase in staff and 
volunteers taking educational courses/seminars, an increase in in-house workshops and 
related speakers, and expenses related to third-party-produced online educational modules. 

 
Offset by: 
- $170,131 decrease in contract staff due to the departure of the Director, IT and a decrease in 

several contract staff in licensing due to retirement, etc.; 
- $81,721 decrease in legal costs due largely to a decrease in the number of complaint files 

requiring prosecutorial viability opinions, investigations, and a decrease in legal fees for 
employment and other corporate matters; 

- $58,138 decrease in computers and telephone due to savings from  a new outsourcing 
contract for IT infrastructure and network maintenance, partially offset by an increase in 
software support contracts; and 

- $53,909 decrease in amortization due largely to the completion of amortization for the 
Volunteer and Awards application at the end of 2014. 

 
 
Capital Assets 
Total capital spending in 2015 was $2,447,378 compared to $2,124,542 in 2014. Building 
improvements both to PEO space and common space totaling $2,860,976 were made to the 
building in 2015.  This included $678,904 for projects under Work In Progress at end of 2014, 
which were completed and transferred to building improvements in 2015. 
 
The net book value of the building of $34,816,164 had a mortgage of $8,467,000 outstanding at 
December 31, 2015. 

 

TYPE FY15-ACT 
Additions 

FY14-ACT 
Additions $ Difference 

 

2015 includes completion of Suite 
103/105 rebuild 

Building Improvements 
 

$593,219 
 

$723,188 
 

($129,969) 

 

2015 includes HVAC upgrades for 
fourth floor, replacement of gas-fired 
boiler,  eighth-floor renovation to 
return unit to base building, 
completion of Suite 103/105 rebuild 
(recoverable portion), traffic deck 
renovation in parking garage and 

Building Improvements (recoverable) 
 

2,267,757 
 

280,372 
 

1,987,385 
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other miscellaneous projects 

 
Computer hardware and software 
 

 
237,772 

 
77,096 

 
160,676 

 
Furniture, fixtures and telephone 
equipment 
 

 
27,534 

 
23,799 

 
3,735 

 
Audio-visual equipment 

 
0 

 
23,328 

 
(23,328) 

 

2015 includes completed work 
transferred to Building Improvements 
and to computer hardware and 
software. 

Work in progress           

 

 
(678,904) 

 
996,759 

 
(1,675,663) 

 
TOTAL 

 
$2,447,378 

 
$2,124,542 

 
$322,836 

 
 
Building Operations 
The operating statement for the building is included in Appendix A-2 and is also summarized in 
Note 4 of the 2015 Audited Financial Statements. The building generated $2,835,298 in revenue 
including PEO’s share of recoverable expenses but excluding base rent had PEO paid market 
rent for its space.  Total recoverable expenses were $2,246,872 and other expenses totaled 
$906,088, thereby creating a deficit of $317,662 as compared to a deficit of $279,820 in the prior 
year.  The increased deficit over 2014 was due largely to higher recoverable operating costs in 
the building of $112,708 related to higher repairs and maintenance expenses and amortization for 
HVAC and plumbing repairs.  This was partially offset by a decrease in financing costs of $43,815 
on a lower mortgage balance. The portion of recoverable expenses attributable to vacant space 
was not recovered.   
 
 
Employee Future Benefits 
In fiscal 2014, PEO adopted changes to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, section 3463 
of Accounting for Not-For-Profit organizations which eliminated the deferral and amortization 
method of changes in the fair value of the plan assets and in the measurement of the plan 
obligation.  As a result of this new accounting policy, the defined liability on the Balance Sheet 
reflects the defined benefit obligation, net of the fair value of plan assets.  All changes in fair value 
and remeasurements and other items are recognized as a component of net assets.  In 2015, the 
remeasurement of the defined liability resulted in an increase in Employee future benefits (on the 
Balance Sheet) of $1,921,800. 
 
 

Appendix B-1 - 2015 Draft Statement of Revenue and Expenses - variance analysis 
Appendices: 

Appendix B-2 - 2015 Draft 40 Sheppard Statement of Revenue and Expenses - variance analysis 
 
 
Ewald Kuczera, M.Sc., P.Eng 
Chair, Audit Committee 
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2015 2015 2015 2014 2013
Actual Budget Forecast Actual Actual

REVENUE $ $ $ % $ $ % $ $ % $

  P.Eng Revenue $15,134,271 $15,255,254 ($120,983) -0.8% $15,275,452 ($141,181) -0.9% $14,840,457 $293,814 2.0% $14,630,128

  Application, registration, examination and other fees 6,064,234 6,160,971 ($96,737) -1.6% 6,286,514 (222,280) -3.5% 5,884,172 180,062 3.1% 5,788,072

  Building operations 2,127,016 2,557,329 ($430,313) -16.8% 2,187,810 (60,794) -2.8% 2,083,065 43,951 2.1% 2,937,867

  Advertising income 292,679 375,000 ($82,321) -22.0% 375,000 (82,321) -22.0% 355,572 (62,893) -17.7% 426,567

  Investment income 97,219 340,928 ($243,709) -71.5% 300,000 (202,781) -67.6% 219,885 (122,666) -55.8% 183,296

TOTAL REVENUE $23,715,419 $24,689,482 ($974,063) -3.9% $24,424,776 ($709,357) -2.9% $23,383,151 $332,268 1.4% $23,965,930

EXPENSES

  Staff salaries and benefits/Retiree and future benefits 10,708,685 11,882,216 (1,173,531) -9.9% 11,350,973 (642,288) -5.7% 10,303,016 405,669 3.9% 10,849,476

  Building operations 2,444,678 2,497,056 (52,378) -2.1% 2,537,137 (92,459) -3.6% 2,362,885 81,793 3.5% 2,383,229

  Purchased Services 1,352,825 1,464,031 (111,206) -7.6% 1,562,496 (209,671) -13.4% 1,090,528 262,297 24.1% 1,069,658

  Engineers Canada 938,579 898,388 40,191 4.5% 898,388 40,191 4.5% 901,420 37,159 4.1% 867,094

  Amortization 924,528 1,203,524 (278,996) -23.2% 932,553 (8,025) -0.9% 978,437 (53,909) -5.5% 950,980

  Chapters 793,066 850,145 (57,079) -6.7% 845,700 (52,634) -6.2% 722,121 70,945 9.8% 610,795

  Volunteer expenses 786,767 924,565 (137,798) -14.9% 944,751 (157,984) -16.7% 761,264 25,503 3.4% 852,302

  Occupancy costs 765,874 851,605 (85,731) -10.1% 792,780 (26,906) -3.4% 732,760 33,114 4.5% 902,378

  Computers and telephone 715,813 825,890 (110,077) -13.3% 898,559 (182,746) -20.3% 773,951 (58,138) -7.5% 644,523

  Legal (corporate, prosecution and tribunal) 567,744 575,120 (7,376) -1.3% 669,407 (101,663) -15.2% 649,465 (81,721) -12.6% 461,735

  Transaction fees 508,253 509,900 (1,647) -0.3% 505,701 2,552 0.5% 508,034 219 0.0% 487,760

  Contract staff 496,237 264,738 231,499 87.4% 564,582 (68,345) -12.1% 666,368 (170,131) -25.5% 506,580

  Postage and courier 475,676 483,195 (7,519) -1.6% 525,568 (49,892) -9.5% 424,151 51,525 12.1% 357,372

  Consultants 362,605 390,300 (27,695) -7.1% 344,312 18,293 5.3% 240,431 122,174 50.8% 353,962

  Recognition, grants and awards 162,239 187,110 (24,871) -13.3% 186,992 (24,753) -13.2% 187,667 (25,428) -13.5% 187,326

  Professional development 155,251 203,500 (48,249) -23.7% 207,824 (52,573) -25.3% 109,170 46,081 42.2% 156,409

  Office supplies 131,955 99,275 32,680 32.9% 92,391 39,564 42.8% 121,723 10,232 8.4% 121,376

  Printing 128,446 104,600 23,846 22.8% 123,371 5,075 4.1% 161,002 (32,556) -20.2% 152,244

  Insurance 105,784 99,155 6,629 6.7% 102,132 3,652 3.6% 97,304 8,480 8.7% 98,600

  Staff expenses 104,307 155,725 (51,418) -33.0% 152,777 (48,470) -31.7% 91,355 12,952 14.2% 85,283

  Advertising 83,942 95,400 (11,458) -12.0% 94,900 (10,958) -11.5% 90,348 (6,406) -7.1% 198,040

TOTAL EXPENSES 22,713,254 24,565,438 (1,852,184) -7.5% 24,333,294 (1,620,040) -6.7% 21,973,400 739,854 3.4% 22,297,122

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES BEFORE 
THE UNDERNOTED $1,002,165 $124,044 $878,121 707.9% $91,482 $910,683 995.5% $1,409,751 ($407,586) -28.9% $1,668,808

COUNCIL DISCRETIONARY RESERVE EXPENSES 70,989 0 70,989 100.0% 65,000 5,989 9.2% 60,515 10,474 17.3% 233,912

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES $931,176 $124,044 $807,132 650.7% $26,482 $904,694 3416.3% $1,349,236 ($418,060) -31.0% $1,434,896

Professional Engineers Ontario
Statement of Revenue and Expenses - Variance Analysis 

Year Ended December 31

Actual Vs Budget Actual Vs Forecast Actual Vs Actual
2015 2015 2015 Vs 2014
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2015 2015 2014
Actual Budget Var $ Var % Actual Var $ Var %

REVENUE
Rental 748,664         879,007     (130,343)     -14.8% 802,831     (54,166)   -6.7%
Operating cost reimbursements 1,828,531      2,163,076  (334,545)     -15.5% 1,765,389  63,142    3.6%
Parking 130,500         149,400     (18,900)       -12.7% 136,950     (6,450)     -4.7%
Miscellaneous 127,603         95,770       31,833        33.2% 98,021       29,582    30.2%

REVENUE 2,835,298      3,287,253  (451,956)     -13.7% 2,803,190  32,107    1.1%

RECOVERABLE EXPENSES
Utilities 516,349         508,860     7,489          1.5% 493,924     22,425    4.5%
Property taxes 449,510         470,870     (21,360)       -4.5% 452,923     (3,413)     -0.8%
Amortization 485,984         514,943     (28,959)       -5.6% 424,161     61,823    14.6%
Payroll 236,916         259,302     (22,386)       -8.6% 245,526     (8,609)     -3.5%
Janitorial 204,674         223,475     (18,801)       -8.4% 219,356     (14,683)   -6.7%
Repairs and maintenance 179,295         151,654     27,641        18.2% 121,885     57,410    47.1%
Property management and advisory fees 82,618           80,767       1,851          2.3% 80,878       1,740      2.2%
Road and ground 18,720           18,838       (118)            -0.6% 32,552       (13,832)   -42.5%
Administration 20,045           32,480       (12,435)       -38.3% 25,009       (4,964)     -19.8%
Security 34,070           22,115       11,955        54.1% 20,276       13,794    68.0%
Insurance 18,691           19,200       (509)            -2.6% 17,674        1,017      5.8%

2,246,872      2,302,504  (55,631)       -2.4% 2,134,163  112,708  5.3%
OTHER EXPENSES

Interest expense on note and loan payable 441,171         440,951     220             0.0% 484,986     (43,815)   -9.0%
Amortization of building 388,293         388,293     0                 0.0% 388,293     -          0.0%
Amortization of deferred costs 61,172           79,593       (18,421)       -23.1% 56,323       4,849      8.6%
Other non-recoverable expenses 15,451           15,640       (189)            -1.2% 19,244       (3,794)     -19.7%

906,088         924,477     (18,389)       -2.0% 948,847     (42,759)   -4.5%
-          EXPENSES 3,152,960      3,226,981  (74,021)       -2.3% 3,083,010  69,950    2.3%

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES (317,662) 60,272 (377,934) -627.0% (279,820) (37,842) 13.5%

Gross Revenue 2,835,298       3,287,253  2,803,190  
Revenue Interco reclass (708,282)        (729,925) (720,125)    
PEO Reported Revenue 2,127,016       2,557,329  2,083,065  

Gross Expense 3,152,960       3,226,981  3,083,010  
Recoverable Exp Interco reclass (708,282)        (729,925)    (720,125)    
PEO Reported Expense 2,444,678      2,497,056  2,362,884  

Professional Engineers Ontario

Year Ended December 31
40 Sheppard Statement of Revenue and Expenses - Variance Analysis

Appendix B-2
DRAFT - Feb. 24, 2016



Briefing Note – Decision 

 
 
505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
RECOMMENDATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR FOR 2016 
    
Purpose: To approve the recommendation of the appointment of auditor for 2016 to members. 
  
Motions to consider:  
 
That Council recommend to members, at the April 2016 Annual General Meeting, the 
appointment of Deloitte LLP as PEO’s auditor for 2016 to hold office until the next annual 
meeting or until their successor is appointed. 
 
Prepared by: Chetan Mehta, MS, MBA – Manager, Financial Services and Business Planning 
Motion Sponsor: Ewald Kuczera, P.Eng. – Chair - Audit Committee 
 
1. Need for PEO Action 

 
It is necessary for Council to recommend the appointment of an auditor for 2016 to members at the 
upcoming Annual General Meeting for their approval. 
 
Section 52 of By-Law 1 states: 
 
The members of each annual meeting shall appoint one or more auditors who shall be chartered 
accountants to hold office until the next annual meeting and if an appointment is not so made, the 
auditor in office shall continue in office until a successor is appointed. 

 
  

2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
 
That Council approve the recommendation of the Audit Committee that Deloitte LLP be 
recommended to the members as PEO’s auditor for 2016. 
  
 
3. Peer Review & Process Followed 

 
Process 
Followed 

On March 2, 2016, consideration was given for PEO’s auditor for 2016. 
 
 

Council 
Identified 
Review 

 

Actual 
Motion 
Review 

On March 2, 2016, the Audit Committee approved the recommendation of the 
appointment of Deloitte LLP for 2016 be presented to Council for approval.   

 
 

4. Next Steps 
 
Once the appointment of Deloitte LLP is approved by Council, members will be asked to approve 
the appointment at the Annual General Meeting in April. 
 

C-505-2.2 



Briefing Note – Decision  
 

505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 
 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

INVESTMENT SUBCOMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
    
Purpose:  To approve the revised Terms of Reference for the Investment Sub-committee. 

 
Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
 
That Council approve the revised Investment Sub-committee Terms of Reference as 
presented to the meeting at C-505-2.3, Appendix A. 
Prepared by: Chetan Mehta, MS., MBA – Manager, Financial Services and Business 
Planning 
Moved by: Roger Jones, P.Eng.  
 
 
1. Need for PEO Action 
One of the roles of Council, as identified in the Committees and Task Forces Policy 
(Role of Council, Item 3), is to approve committee/task force Mandates, Terms of 
Reference, annual Work Plans, and annual Human Resources Plans.  
 
The Finance Committee (FIC) has submitted a revised Terms of Reference for the 
Investment Sub-committee for Council approval. The proposed changes to the 
Investment Sub-committee Terms of Reference are identified with track changes in 
Appendix A.  
 
 
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
That Council approve changes to the Investment Sub-committee Terms of Reference as 
presented. 
 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 
The approved document will be posted on the PEO website.  
 
 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 

 
Process Followed • The Investment Sub-committee Terms of Reference was 

reviewed by the Finance Committee at its February 4, 2016 
meeting.  

Council Identified 
Review 

N/A 
 

Actual 
Motion 
Review 

• The Finance Committee reviewed the draft document at its 
February 4, 2016 meeting and approved the proposed 
change. 
  

 
 
5. Appendix 

i) Appendix A – Investment Sub-committee Terms of Reference  

C-505-2.3 



FINANCE COMMITTEE – INVESTMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Page 1 of 2 

 

Issue Date:  TBDMarch 11, 2016                Review Date: Annually in May 
Approved by:  Council     Review by:   Finance committee 
 

Mandate 

 

 

PEO maintains investment portfolios (referred to herein as “funds”) to support 
its reserve fund and its pension and benefits registered plans.  The registered 
plans require compliance with the Pension Benefits Act. The reserve fund is 
mandated by Council at a minimum of $4.5 million. The investment portfolios 
are maintained as separate funds so they can be managed appropriately in 
accord with their individual mandates.   

PEO wishes to maintain the value of the funds against inflation and to achieve 
reasonable growth at an acceptable level of risk. The funds are managed by 
professional investment firms to this end. The investment sub-committee shall 
monitor the performance of the funds to ensure that PEO's needs have been 
properly and prudently met, and report to the Finance Committee on an annual 
basis. The committee will also ensure that investment policies are kept up to 
date and recommend changes to these if required. 

Key Duties and 
Responsibilities 

• Review annually the funds' investment policies, and recommend 
proposed changes, if any are needed, to the Finance Committee for 
approval; 

• Review and recommend annually to the Finance Committee the 
appointment of the fund investment manager(s); 

• Review reports on the performance of the funds' assets and identify 
potential concerns regarding funding; 

• Oversee and receive confirmation from management on the 
effectiveness of procedures and systems used to ensure compliance 
with all legal and regulatory requirements with respect to the funds; 

• Commission, review, and report to the Finance Committee on any 
external assessments of the funds management; and 

• Ensure that risk/return balance is maintained in accordance with the 
specific needs of each fund. 

Success 
Measurements of 
Key Duties and 
Responsibilities 

• Investment targets have been met; 
• Finance Committee receives annual report and approves any changes 

required; and 
• The responsibilities outlined in these terms of reference have been 

carried out. 
Type of 
Committee 

Advisory sub-committee  

Responsible Finance Committee 

C-505-2.3 
Appendix A 



FINANCE COMMITTEE – INVESTMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Page 2 of 2 

 

Authority 

Constituency & 
Qualifications of 
Committee 
Members 

 

The Investment Sub-committee will consist of: 

a) The PEO President (ex-officio);  

b) one member of the Finance Committee, other than the PEO President, to be 
appointed by the Committee;  

c) one member of the Human Resources Committee, other than the PEO 
President, to be appointed by the Committee;  

d) one registered pension plan member, either staff or retired; and 

e) Pension Plan Administrator (non-voting). 

Selection, 
Appointment and 
Termination of 
Members 

a) Chair and Vice Chair will be elected annually by the committee. 
 b) Selection of the pension plan member will be managed by the Registrar.   

c) Appointments to the sub-committee will be for a one year term, coinciding 
with the council year. 

Quorum Three (3)Two (2) out of the four (4) voting members. 

Reporting 
Requirements 

In January of each year, the Chair of the sub-committee will submit a written 
report to the Finance, Human Resources and Audit Committees and: 

a) Confirm annually to the finance committee that the responsibilities 
outlined in these terms of reference have been carried out 

b) Report to the Committees about any issues or required changes. 
Meeting 
Frequency & Time 
Commitment 

The committee shall meet, at a minimum, semi-annually, and once annually 
with each of the fund investment managers.   

Committee 
Advisor 

Controller 

Staff Support Manager, Financial Services and Business Planning 
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Licensing Committee – Ontario Labour Mobility Act 
    
Purpose:  To consider some external threats to PEO’s licensing criteria and processes that are essential 
to PEO’s protection of the public and to authorize appropriate responses. 
 
Motion to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry) 
 That Council direct the Registrar to request the Attorney General to authorize an Exception for PEO 
under Section 7. (3) of the Ontario Labour Mobility Act for three years to obtain all assessment material 
regarding the education and experience of mobility applicants. 
 
Prepared by: President-Elect George Comrie, P. Eng., CMC - Chair, Licensing Committee 
Moved by: President-Elect George Comrie, P. Eng., CMC - Chair, Licensing Committee 

 
1. Need for PEO Action 
At its September 2014 Meeting, PEO Council passed a motion authorizing the Registrar, in consultation 
with the Licensing Process Task Force (LPTF) to develop a plan, with budget implications for a 
coordinated response to external threats to PEO’s current licensing criteria and processes that are 
essential to PEO’s protection of the public through licensure including national mobility. 
 
After the LPTF was stood down by Council at the end of 2014, the newly created Licensing Committee 
(LIC) assumed the responsibility for developing a plan in response to the September 2014 Council motion.  
The LIC has obtained and reviewed statistical information regarding Ontario Labour Mobility Act (OLMA) 
applications to PEO.  About 60 per cent of all mobility applicants have been licensed less than 5 years in 
another province.  Under the previous Engineers Canada Inter-Association Mobility Agreement these 60 
per cent of mobility applicants would have been subject to providing PEO with academic and experience 
information for assessment purposes and may have been required to pass additional examinations 
and/or obtain training. 
 
The LIC is concerned that since the OLMA does not permit PEO to obtain full academic and experience 
information of mobility applicants , PEO does not know if the applicants would have been subject to 
further examinations and training.  
 
The LIC is also concerned that since mobility licences are a significant component of new licences issued 
by PEO (see chart below) and in order that the public interest may be served and protected, PEO should 
ensure that mobility applicants have not met lower requirements for licensure than PEO’s own 
applicants. 
 
Number of Mobility Licences as Percentage of Total Licences issued by PEO 

Year New P.Eng Licences Mobility Licences Percentage Mobility 
2010 2480 397 16.0 
2011 1830 579 31.6 
2012 2292 504 22.0 
2013 2022 664 32.8 
2014 2485 614 24.7 
2015 2448 677 27.7 
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The Labour Mobility Code within the OLMA applies when an individual resides within a Canadian 
jurisdiction that is a party to the Agreement on Internal Trade (AIT) and is certified by an out-of-province 
regulatory authority.  Under subsection (2) of the OLMA the Ontario regulatory authority shall not 
require that the individual undertake, obtain or undergo any material additional training, experience, 
examinations or assessments.  
 
Exceptions to the prohibition on material additional training, experience, examinations or assessments 
are permitted if the requirement is listed on the website of the Ministry of Training Colleges and 
Universities and is a permissible certification requirement adopted by the Government of Ontario under 
Article 708 of AIT.  PEO has no such exceptions listed. 
 
The LIC is proposing that all mobility applicants must first provide the additional material requested by 
PEO before a licence will be issued.   The material would be consistent with the former Engineers Canada 
Inter-Association Mobility Agreement including transcripts and experience summary.  The purpose of the 
additional information collection is to ensure that the OLMA does not lessen the requirements for 
licensure of PEO applicants. 
 
PEO would licence all applicants that meet the current requirements of the OLMA without requiring any 
additional training, experience or examinations. 
 
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
That Council approve the request for an Exception to the OLMA 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 
PEO would write to the Attorney General requesting that an Exception for PEO be submitted to the 
Minister of Training, Colleges and Universities which is responsible for administering the OLMA. 

 
It has no budget implication although existing staff and volunteer resources will be required to review 
files for academic and experience assessments.  

 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 

 
 
Process 
Followed 

Initiated by September 2014 Council Motion.  The LIC reviewed the OLMA in August 
2015  
• The LIC then requested and reviewed statistical information in the fall of 2015 
• At the December 2015 LIC meeting the committee endorsed preparing a draft 

Briefing Note to Council to request an Exception under OLMA 
• At the January 22, 2016 ARC Meeting the note was distributed for feedback 
• At the February 18, 2016 LIC meeting the briefing note was reviewed and 

endorsed by the committee  
 

Council 
Identified 
Review 

N/A 
 
 

 
Actual 
Motion 
Review 

 
The Motion was reviewed by the Licensing Committee and approved at its February, 
18,  2016 meeting 
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STRATEGIC PLAN –COMMUNICATIONS  INFRASTRUCTURE  ENGINEERING 
    
Purpose:  To add a Strategy to the Strategic Plan for the emerging discipline Communications 
Infrastructure Engineering  
 
Motion to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry) : 
That Council: 
 

a) approve new Strategy 2.4 - Communications Infrastructure Engineering Outreach and Licensure 
for the 2015-2017 PEO Strategic Plan. 

b) direct the Chairs of the Emerging Discipline Task Force, the Academic Requirements Committee, 
the Experience Requirements Committee  and the Licensing Committee to work, on a priority 
basis, with the Deputy Registrar, Licensing and Registration, to develop and implement a 
strategy to licence a "critical mass" of practitioners in this discipline. 

 
Prepared by:  President-Elect George Comrie, P. Eng., CMC - Chair, Communications Infrastructure 
Engineering Sub-Group of the Emerging Disciplines Task Force 
Moved by: President-Elect George Comrie, P. Eng., CMC  

 
1. Need for PEO Action 
At the November 22 , 2013 PEO Council Meeting, Peter DeVita, P. Eng. Chair of the Emerging Disciplines 
Task Force  (EDTF) presented the recommendations of the Communications Infrastructure Engineering 
(CIE) Group Phase 2 report.   Council concluded that appropriate committees should be consulted for 
their comments before finalizing the recommendations.   Council then passed the following motion: 
 
That: 

a) Council receive the Executive Summary of the Emerging Discipline Task Force 
Communications Infrastructure Engineering Phase 2 Report presented at C-490-3.5(i), 
Appendix A;  

b) the recommendations contained in the report be presented to Engineers Canada and to 
the following committees/task forces for comment: 

i. Academic Requirements Committee,  
ii. Experience Requirements Committee,   
iii. Legislation Committee,  
iv. Enforcement Committee, 
v. Licensing Process Task Force 
vi. Professional Standards Committee; and  

c) direct the above referenced committees/task forces, as the case may be, to report back 
to Council within six months.  

 
Included in the CIE’s recommendations to Council was that “the Emerging Disciplines Task Group 
continue to engage key external stakeholders in regulation of CIE with a view to identifying 
opportunities.”    EDTF Chair DeVita and PEO President-Elect George Comrie then initiated outreach 
activities with Bell Canada.  These activities have led to interest in PEO licensures from about 25 Bell 
Canada staff working in this area and have contributed to Bell Canada corporate support for licensing and 
credentialing for the next few years. 
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Building on this momentum, and in conjunction with the EDTF’s Other Recommendations:   
 
1. That PEO Support CIE licensure with communication and promotion targeted at the executive level, 

so that awareness and appreciation of the value of the CIE is understood and business case 
development is facilitated from lower levels in the organization: 
 

2. That, with respect to communication and stakeholder relations concerning CIE : 

• Clear objectives and success criteria be developed and approved by Council; 
• A communication and stakeholder relations master plan be developed for the regulation 

of CIE along the lines presented above; 
• A project manager be assigned full-time to manage the execution of the communication 

and stakeholder relations plan; and 
• Achievement of plan objectives be tracked, and the plan and resources adjusted 

as required to deal with shortfalls.” 
 

It is imperative that PEO continues its activities in the CIE discipline by demonstrating its commitment 
through the Strategic Plan. 
 
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
 
That Council approve  a new Strategy entitled Communications Infrastructure Engineering Outreach and 
Licensure for the 2015-2017 PEO Strategic Plan.  The strategy would fall under Strategic Objective 2 - 
Public Recognition is increased through ensuring that titles, designations, certificates and marks are 
issued to qualified applicants and entities.  The new strategy will be designated as Strategy 2.4. 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 
The Strategic Plan would be updated to include new Strategy 2.4  -Communications Infrastructure 
Engineering Outreach and Licensure.  
 
The Deputy Registrar, Licensing and Registration, will develop and implement a  Licensure Strategy in 
consultation with the Chairs of the EDTF, ARC,  ERC, and LIC with a view to licencing a limited number of 
applicants in this discipline within an agreed upon timeframe.  

 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 

 
 
Process 
Followed 

Initiated by November 2013 Council Motion. 
• The EDTF then met with Bell Canada 
 

Council 
Identified 
Review 

 

 
Actual 
Motion 
Review 

The Motion was reviewed by the CIE Sub-Group of the EDTF  and then approved at its      
January 22, 2016 meeting. 
The motion was also discussed whth the Chairs of the EDTF, ARC , ERC and LIC  
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OSPE MEMBERSHIP FEE REIMBURSEMENT FOR ELIGIBLE PEO COUNCILLORS AND STAFF 
    
Purpose:  To approve the reimbursement of OSPE membership fees for all PEO P.Eng. Councillors and P.Eng. staff. 
 
Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
 
That Council approve the reimbursement of Ontario Society of Professional Engineers (OSPE) membership fees for 
all PEO P.Eng. Councillors while serving on PEO Council and for all PEO P.Eng. staff while employed by PEO. 
 
That Council approve a budget of $8,100 for the 2016 calendar year for this purpose.  These funds will be sourced 
from the current budgetary surplus. 

Prepared by:  Marilyn Spink, P.Eng., Councillor 
Moved by: Marilyn Spink, P.Eng., Councillor  

 
1. Need for PEO Action 
In order to actively support the PEO – OSPE partnership, the OSPE – PEO Joint Relations Committee 
suggested at its February 1, 2016 meeting  that PEO should reimburse the membership fees for all PEO 
P.Eng. Councillors while serving on PEO Council and for all PEO P.Eng. staff while employed by PEO. 
 
The Committee also concluded that it was important, optically, to have PEO Councillors and senior staff, 
particularly the President and Registrar, as members of OSPE. 
 
Currently, there are 22 PEO P.Eng. Councillors and 23 PEO P.Eng. staff eligible for reimbursement. 
  
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
It is recommended that the above motion be approved to demonstrate PEO’s commitment to the PEO – 
OSPE partnership. 
 
This is an unbudgeted funding request for approximately $8,100 in 2016 and if approved, would become an 
ongoing budget item. 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 
The availability of reimbursement of OSPE membership fees will be communicated to all PEO P.Eng. 
Councillors and P.Eng. staff. 
 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 

Process Followed The OSPE – PEO Joint Relations Committee suggested at its February 1, 2016 meeting that 
PEO should reimburse the membership fees for all PEO P.Eng. Councillors while serving on 
PEO Council and for all PEO P.Eng. staff while employed by PEO. 

Council Identified 
Review 

N/A 

Actual Motion 
Review 

The draft briefing note and motion were peer reviewed by the Finance Commitee at its 
meeting on March 3, 2016.  The Finance Committee only peer reviewed the OSPE proposal 
for the budget portion of $8,100.  They approved the budget but did not make comment 
on the merits of the motion, as they felt this was not within their purview.  
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PROCEDURE FOR APPPOINTMENT OF PEO DIRECTORS TO ENGINEERS CANADA BOARD 
    
Purpose:  To approve a process to appoint PEO Directors to the Engineers Canada Board 
 
Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry) 
 
That Council approve the process to appoint PEO Directors to the Engineers Canada Board as presented to 
the meeting at C-505-2.9, Appendix A. 

Prepared by: Gerard McDonald, P.Eng., Registrar 
Moved by:  Charles Kidd, P.Eng. 

 
1. Need for PEO Action 

 
The current approved process to appoint PEO Directors to the Engineers Canada Board is in accordance 
with Special Rule 4 – Procedure for Board Appointments which is a “first passed the post” process 
(Appendix B). In other words, the nominee with the most votes is declared appointed.  With 22 nominees 
seeking appointment and 26 Councillors voting, a concern was raised that a nominee could be appointed 
to the Engineers Canada Board and not enjoy the majority support of Council.  Therefore, Council is being 
asked to consider a revised “run-off” appointment process (Appendix A). 
  
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 

 
It is recommended that Council adopt the “run-off” process to ensure that PEO’s Engineers Canada 
Director has the majority support of Council. 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 

 
• The approved process will be used to appoint PEO Directors to the Engineers Canada Board. 

 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 

 
Process Followed N/A 
Council Identified 
Review 

N/A 

ActualMotion 
Review 

N/A 

 
5. Appendices 

 
• Appendix A – PEO Process to Appoint an Engineers Canada Director 
• Appendix B – Special 4 - Procedure for Board Appointments 
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PEO Process to Appoint an Engineers Canada Director 

Voting Procedure 
 
The following voting procedures are to be used when making Engineers Canada Director 
appointments: 

 
1. At the meeting at which such appointments are to be made, the Chair shall read out the 

names of those members who have submitted nominations. 
 
2. Each nominee will be afforded an opportunity to make a brief (2 minute) personal 

introduction should they so wish. Absent nominees may submit a written personal 
introduction.  The Chair will read any comments received from absent nominees. 

 
3. Councillors will vote for each available position separately and in succession until all 

positions have been filled. 
 

4. Prior to each round of voting, the Chair shall ask all nominees whether they wish to have 
their name stand for appointment. 

 
5. Where there is only one nominee for a position, the Chair shall declare the nominee 

appointed to the Engineers Canada Board. 
 

6. Councillors will vote for each position available, by secret vote, from among the nominees.   
Voting will be in accordance with By-Law No. 1, s.25(4). 

 
7. Where the number of nominees exceeds the number of positions available, the nominee 

receiving at least 50% plus 1 of the votes cast shall be declared appointed by the Chair. 
 

8. Where no nominee receives at least 50% plus 1 of the votes cast in the first round of voting, 
the top four nominees receiving the most votes cast shall advance to a second round of 
voting.  If there are only three nominees, the nominee receiving the lowest number of votes 
cast will be eliminated and not advance to the second round of voting. 

 
9. In the event there is a tie in the last nominee position, the number of nominees advancing to 

the second round will be expanded to include those nominees that have tied for the last 
nominee position. 

 
10. After each voting round following the first voting round, the nominee receiving the lowest 

number of votes cast will be eliminated and not advance to the next round of voting. Voting 
rounds will continue in accordance with steps 6 and 7 until one nominee receives at least 
50% plus 1 of the votes cast. 

 
11. If applicable, ballots cast will remain with the Secretariat until a motion to destroy the 

ballots has been passed by Council. 
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SPECIAL RULE 4 – PROCEDURES FOR BOARD APPOINTMENTS 

 
The following procedures are to be used when making board appointments: 
 
1. At least three weeks prior to the meeting at which such appointments are to be made; the 

Registrar will request Councillors to express their interest in serving as Council Meeting Chair, 
Vice President and on Board Committees. 
 

2. At the meeting, the Chair will ask for additional nominations.  If none is received, the Chair will 
declare the nominations closed.  Nominations may be closed by the Chair without the need for a 
motion. A nomination does not require a seconder.  

 
3. Each candidate will be asked if he/she consents to the nomination. 
 
4. A Councillor who is absent from the Council meeting at which a position is to be filled may be 

nominated, provided such Councillor has provided at least three days prior written notification 
to the Chief Administrative Officer that he/she consents to the nomination and agrees to serve 
in that capacity, if appointed as well as any comments the candidate might otherwise provide at 
the meeting in support of his/her nomination. 

 
5. Each nominee will be afforded an opportunity to make a brief (3 minutes) personal introduction 

should they so wish. The Chair will read any comments received from absent nominees. 
 
6. Councillors will vote for the number of positions available (e.g. – Vice President – select one 

name; Finance Committee – select five names), by secret vote, from among the nominees.   
Voting will be in accordance with By-Law No. 1, s.25(4). 

 
7. Upon completion of the vote, the results will be presented and the Chair will declare a 

nominee(s) with the most votes elected. 
 
8. Where there is only one nominee for a position, or the number of nominees equals the number 

of positions available, the Chair shall declare the nominee(s) elected.  
 
9. Where the number of nominees received exceeds the number of positions available, the 

nominees receiving the greatest number of votes cast for the number of positions available shall 
be declared elected by the Chair. 

 
10. In the event there is a tie in the last position available, a run-off vote will be conducted in 

accordance with paragraphs 6 and 7 and the nominee receiving the greatest number of votes 
cast shall be declared elected by the Chair. 

 
11. If applicable, ballots cast will remain with the Secretariat until a motion to destroy the ballots 

has been passed by Council. 

  C-505-2.9 
Appendix B 



Briefing Note – Decision 

 
 
505th Council Meeting – March 10—11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
APPPOINTMENT OF PEO DIRECTORS TO ENGINEERS CANADA BOARD 
    
Purpose:  To appoint two PEO representatives to serve on the Board of Directors of Engineers Canada  in 
accordance with Council’s procedures. 
 
Motion(s) to approve: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry) 

That ________________________, P.Eng. and ________________________, P.Eng. be appointed 
as a PEO Director to the Engineers Canada Board of Directors, for a three-year term effective as of 
the 2016 Engineers Canada Annual General Meeting. 

Prepared by: Fern Goncalves – Director, People Development 
Moved by: Warren Turnbull, P.Eng. 

 
1. Need for PEO Action 
The term of the following two PEO Directors appointed to the Engineers Canada Board of Directors expires at 
its 2016 Engineers Canada Annual General Meeting on May 28, 2016 when the new Board of Directors will be 
sworn in: 
 

Engineers Canada Director Term Start 1 Term End 

Rakesh Shreewastav, P.Eng., FEC June 2013 May 2016 

Diane Freeman, P.Eng., FEC May 2014 May 2016 
1

 

 Engineers Canada appointments become effective at its Annual General Meeting, which is typically held 
in May each year 

Therefore, Council is being asked to appoint two PEO representatives to the Board of Directors of Engineers 
Canada.  The names of members who expressed their interest in serving as a PEO Engineers Canada Director 
are detailed in Appendix A. 
 
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
It is recommended that Council elect two PEO representatives to the Engineers Canada Board of Directors for 
a three-year term to replace those Directors whose terms are expiring. 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 
Engineers Canada would be advised of PEO’s approved appointees. 
 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 
No peer review was required. 
 
A memorandum was emailed to all Councillors and a notice posted on PEO’s website, along with the terms of 
reference and expectations for directors, requesting members to submit their names to the Registrar by 
February 19, 2016.   
 
5. Appendices 

• Appendix A – Nominess for Appointment to Engineers Canada Board of Directors 
• Appendix B – Terms of Reference and Expectations of PEO’s Directors on Engineers Canada 

Board of Directors 
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Nominees for Appointment to Engineers Canada Board of Directors 

 
The following is a list of nominees (* resumes attached) who have expressed interest in 
serving on the Engineers Canada Board as of February 23, 2016: 
 

Dwight Aplevich * 

David Brown 

Karen Chan * 

Thomas Chong 

Sangeeta Chopra * 

Bruce Clarida 

Nick Colucci 

Monty Fidda * 

Nancy Hill * 

Kenneth McMartin * 

Nobuo Obukuro 

Dr. Andrew Ramcharan * 

Fred Saghezchi 

Jay Sarkar * 

Pappur Shankar 

Rakesh Shreewastav 

Dr. J. Allen Stewart * 

Raj Subramaniam * 

Faysal Sunba * 

John Van Egmond * 

Rob Willson * 

C-505-2.10 
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Tel: 416 224-1100   800 339-3716 

www.peo.on.ca  

Terms of Reference and Expectations of PEO Directors 

on Engineers Canada Board of Directors1 
 

Background: 

 

Engineers Canada is governed by a Board of Directors, consisting of one or more 

representatives from each Constituent Association. PEO appoints five representatives to 

this Board of Directors. 

 

Engineers Canada is a federation of the provincial/territorial  associations whose mandate 

is to coordinate the work of the Constituent Associations and to represent the profession 

nationally and internationally within the mandate provided by its Letters Patent and By-

laws. 

 

Role of Engineers Canada Director: 

 

The role and responsibilities of the Director are described in Section 202-2 of Engineers 

Canada Governance Manual. In carrying his/her role, the Director is to be informed and 

to carry out the fiduciary responsibilities as defined in Engineers Canada Organization 

Manual. The section has been modified here to include the responsibilities as they relate 

to PEO 

 

Section 4 -FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES.  

 

The Directors must also comply with the Code of Conduct of Volunteers. As a Director of 

Engineers Canada, the principal responsibilities include: 

 Be informed of significant issues affecting, or likely to affect, PEO and Engineers 

Canada. 

 Be informed of rules, regulations, policies and procedures governing PEO and 

Engineers Canada. 

 Participate in meetings of the Engineers Canada Board and of PEO Council. 

 Effectively present the views of PEO as they relate to matters under discussion by 

Engineers Canada. 

 Contribute to the Engineers Canada decision-making process in the national 

interest, while respecting the rights, responsibilities and decisions of PEO.  

 Keep PEO Council informed of the activities, decisions and plans of Engineers 

Canada. 

 

Expectations Regarding Principal Activities:  

 

 Attend Engineers Canada meetings and report significant activities or decisions to 

PEO following each meeting, including a report on any special Engineers Canada 

projects. 

 Attend PEO Council meetings. The Directors are expected to attend to the same 

standard to which a regular member of PEO Council is held. 

                                                
1 Approved by resolution at the September 2010 meeting of Council.  
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 Provide a written report to Council through the Registrar in a timeframe 

acceptable so that it may be included in the Council meeting agenda package.  

 Notify PEO’s President and Registrar of any specific items for which he/she 

requires a decision of or guidance by, PEO Council, so that they may be included in 

the agenda for the next PEO Council meeting. 

 

Eligibility: 

 

To be eligible, a nominee for the position of Engineers Canada Director must be a member 

in good standing of PEO, preferably a recent Past President or senior volunteer of PEO 

who is knowledgeable of current issues and who has attended meetings of the national 

bodies as an official representative of the PEO.   

 

Alternatively, the nominee could be a current Councillor or a member who is actively 

involved in PEO matters. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in all cases the candidate 

deemed by PEO to be the most knowledgeable and suitable to represent PEO at the 

national level shall be selected. 

 

Appointment Process: 

 

PEO determines its appointment process. This may include a nominating committee (e.g. 

President, President-elect and Registrar) to identify one or more candidates for 

consideration by PEO Council as Engineers Canada Directors. 

 

Council will determine the preferred order in which candidates will be approached. A 

senior representative of Council would approach candidates in the order approved by 

Council until an acceptance is received. 

 

Term of Appointment for Directors 

 

Appointment to the Engineers Canada Board is at the sole discretion of PEO.  The term of 

appointment normally commences and ends at an annual meeting of the Engineers 

Canada and shall normally be of three (3) years duration. However, PEO may determine a 

different term according to the circumstances of a particular appointment. Terms fewer 

than two years are discouraged as they may not allow for effective representation.  

 

The Council of PEO may rescind the appointment of an Engineers Canada Director if it 

determines that the Director is not acting in accord with these terms of reference. 

 

Likewise, the Council, as it deems reasonable, may extend the term of appointment of any 

Director. Should a Director wish to extend his/her term, either to continue as a member of 

the Board of Directors or to serve on the Executive Committee, or seek the Office of 

President-Elect, a request shall be made at least three months prior to the expiration of 

the term, or in advance of such election, to the Council of PEO for such extension. 

 

Performance Review 

 

Council shall conduct an annual review of a Director’s performance prior to the Annual 

General Meeting of Engineers Canada. 
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PROMOTION OF OSPE ON PEO FEE RENEWAL FORM 
    
Purpose: To better describe OSPE on the PEO fee renewal page, thereby assisting OSPE to attract more 
of PEO members who are renewing their PEO membership to also join OSPE.  
 
Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
That Council approve that a description of OSPE to be drafted by OSPE personel and approved by PEO 
staff be posted to the PEO Fee renewal page where it indicates that the OSPE Fee is a voluntary 
contribution  
 
Prepared by: Warren Turnbull P. Eng. 
Moved by: Warren Turnbull P. Eng. 

 
1. Need for PEO Action 

• In order to actively support the PEO – OSPE partnership the PEO – OSPE Joint Relations 
Committee suggested at its February 1st

• It may not be clear to some PEO members why they should choose to support and join OSPE 

, 2016 meeting that a better description of OSPE’s 
advocacy role where members are being requested to make a voluntary contribution may 
help increase those PEO members who choose to join OSPE. 

• Please see the relevant PEO fee renewal form in the Appendix A. 
  

2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
• It is recommended that the above action be approved to demonstrate PEO’s commitment to 

the PEO-OSPE partnership 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 

• Advise staff of both PEO and OSPE of the change, draft and approve the wording change, 
implement on the website and consider the addition of a hyperlink, Learn More About OSPE. 

 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 

 
Process 
Followed 

The OSPE – PEO Joint Realtions Committee suggested at its February 1st, 2016 meeting 
that PEO should support OSPE by enabling a better description of OSPE’s advocacy 
role where PEO members are being requested to make a voluntary contribution to 
OSPE. This may assist OSPE to increase their membership. 

Council 
Identified 
Review 

N/A 

Actual 
Motion 
Review 

N/A 

 
5. Appendices 

• Appendix A  - PEO Fee Renewal Form 
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INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CONTINUING ENGINEERING EDUCATION (IACEE) CONFERENCE
    

  

Purpose:  To approve participation at the International Association of Continuing Engineering Education 
(IACEE) Conference
 

  

Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
 

1. That Council approve the participation of Annette Bergeron, P.Eng., Chair, CP2 Task Force at the 
International Association 

 

of Continuing Engineering Education(IACEE) Conference in Porto, 
Portugal, May 17 – 20, 2016. 

2. That Council approve a budget of $3,530 in 2016 for this purpose. These funds will be sourced from 
the current budgetary surplus. 

Prepared by: Annette Bergeron, P.Eng., Chair, CP2 

Moved by: Dave Brown, P.Eng., Councillor 
Task Force 

 
1. Need for PEO Action 

The International Association of Continuing Engineering Education (IACEE)  

 

called for papers as 
part of a conference to be held in Porto, Portugal, May 17 – 20, 2016. The theme of the conference 
is Innovation in Continuing Professional Development: A Vision for the Future. 

As Chair of PEO’s CP2 Task Force, Ms. Bergeron recently submitted an abstract of a  paper to the 
IACEE that was the culmination of two years effort by eleven volunteers on the work of the CPDCQA 
Task Force. There are three streams to the conference and the Task Force’s work was submitted 
under the stream Devising CPD Stakeholders Next Steps. More detailed information is available at 
http://www.iacee2016.com.  On the strength of that submission, 
 

PEO has been invited to present. 

The cost to participate at the Conference is as follows: 

  
  
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 

It is recommended that Council approve PEO’s participation in the IACEE Conference as it is an 
opportunity to showcase PEO's innovative work on the world stage and to glean what the current 
best practices are across the globe and where CPD is heading in the future. The conference is 
timely as it would allow for Ms. Bergeron to report back as Chair of the CP2

 

 Task Force and 
incorporate any new findings into the current work of the Task Force.  This is an unbudgeted funding 
request for approximately $3,530 in 2016. 

3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 
• Ms,. Bergeron would prepare and submit her full paper to the Conference organizers prior to March 31, 2016 
• All messaging will be reviewed by PEO Communications. 
• Ms. Bergeron will attend at the Conference and present PEO’s submission. 

 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 

Process Followed N/A 
Council Identified Review N/A 
Actual Motion Review N/A 

 
5. Appendices 

• Appendix A – Program and Speaker, IACEE Conference 
• Appendix B – Papers, Posters and other Formats, IACEE Conference 

C-505-2.12 
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Briefing Note – Decision  

505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 
 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 
  
 

 
   
CONSENT AGENDA 
    
Purpose:  To approve the items contained in the consent agenda 
 
Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
 
That the consent agenda be approved. 
 
Prepared by: Dale Power,  Secretariat Administrator 
 
Routine agenda items that may be approved without debate are included in a consent agenda 
and may be moved in a single motion.  However, the minutes of the meeting will reflect each 
item as if it was dealt with separately.   Including routine items on a consent agenda expedites 
the meeting. 
 
Items included on the consent agenda may be removed and dealt with separately if they 
contain issues or matters that require review. 
 
Please review the minutes ahead of time for errors or omissions and advise Dale Power (416-
224-1100, ext. 1130 or dpower@peo.on.ca

 

 if there are any required revisions prior to the 
meeting so that the minutes, when presented, may be considered within the consent agenda.  

The following items are contained in the consent agenda: 
 
 3.1 Minutes – 504th

 3.2 Limited Engineering Licensee and Licensed Engineering Technologist -  
 Council meeting – February 5, 2016 

   Approval of Seal Designs         
 3.3 Approval of CEDC Applications 

3.4 Changes to Committees/Task Forces Roster 
3.5 Audit Committee Work Plan 

   

C-505-3.0 



Briefing Note - Decision 

505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 
 

  

OPEN SESSION MINUTES – 504th

 
 Council Meeting – February 5, 2016 

Purpose:  To record that the minutes of the open session of the 504th

 

 meeting of Council accurately 
reflect the business transacted at that meeting.  

Motion(s) consider:  (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
 
That the minutes of the 504th

 

 meeting of Council, held  February 5, 2016, as presented to the meeting 
C-505-3.1, Appendix A, accurately reflect the business transacted at that meeting. 

Prepared by:  Dale Power, Secretariat Administrator 
 
1. Need for PEO Action 
In accordance with best business practices, Council should record that minutes of an open session of a meeting of 
Council accurately reflect the business transacted at a meeting.  
 
 
2. Current Policy   
Section 25(1) of By-Law No. 1 states that meetings of PEO are to be governed by Wainberg's Society Meetings.  Rule 
27.5 of Wainberg's states that "There is no legal requirement to have minutes verified, but it is considered good 
practice.  The motion does not by itself ratify or adopt the business transacted; it merely verifies the minutes as being 
correct [a correct record of the discussions held and decisions made at the meeting]." 
 
 
3. Appendices 

• Appendix A - Minutes – 504th

 
 Council open session meeting – February 5, 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

C-505-3.1 
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Minutes 
 
The 504th MEETING of the COUNCIL of PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS ONTARIO (PEO) was held at PEO Offices, 40 
Sheppard Avenue West, Toronto, Ontario on Friday, February 5, 2016 at 9:00 a.m. 
 
Present: T. Chong, P.Eng., President and Chair 

J. D. Adams, P.Eng., Past President via teleconference [minutes 11607 – 11617 only] 
  G. Comrie, P.Eng., President-elect 
  B.Dony, P.Eng., Vice President (Appointed) 
  P. J. Quinn, P.Eng., Vice President (Elected) [minutes 11607 – 11617 only] 
  I. Bhatia, P.Eng.  
  D. Brown, P.Eng. 
  D. Chui, P.Eng. 
  N. Colucci, P.Eng.   
  B. Dony, P.Eng. 

R. A. Fraser, P.Eng. 
S. K. Gupta, P.Eng.  
R. Huang, LL.B. [minutes 11607 – 11617 only] 
R. Jones, P.Eng.  

  C.M. Kidd, P.Eng. [minutes 11615 – 11630 only] 
  L. King, P.Eng.   
  B. Kossta 
  E. Kuczera, P.Eng. 
  M. Long-Irwin [minutes 11607 – 11617 only] 
  D. Preley, P.Eng. 
  S. Reid, C.Tech. 
  S. Robert, P.Eng. 

C. Sadr, P.Eng.  
R.K. Shreewastav, P.Eng.   

  M. Spink, P.Eng.  
  W. Turnbull, P.Eng. 
    
Regrets: R. J. Hilton, P.Eng.   
  J. Zuccon, P.Eng. 
         
Staff:  G. McDonald, P.Eng., Registrar 

S.W. Clark, LL.B. 
  M. Cellucci 

C. Mucklestone 
  L. Latham, P.Eng. 
  M. Price, P.Eng.  
  Z. Sarmento   
  R. Martin 
  D. Power 
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Guests: A. Bergeron, PEO Director, Engineers Canada [minutes 11607 – 11630 except minute 11615] 
 D. Freeman, PEO Director, Engineers Canada  [minutes 11607 – 11630 except minute 11615] 
 C. Roney, PEO Director, Engineers Canada  [minutes 11607 – 11630 except minute 11615] 

H. Brown, Brown & Cohen  [minutes 11607 – 11630 except minute 11615] 
D. Campbell, Government Liaison Committee Chair [minutes  11607 – 11630 except minute 
116615 a-e, g-n]          
S. Perruzza, OSPE  [minutes 11607 – 11630 except minute 11615] 

    
On Thursday evening, Council held a plenary session to discuss the Continuing Professional Competence Program Task 
Force Terms of Reference and Communication Plan (CP)², Canadian Engineering Accreditation Board Discussion and 
the Terms of Reference for Council Term Limits Task Force (CTL).      
 
Council convened at 9:00 a.m. Friday, February 5, 2016. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
 

Notice having been given and a quorum being present, the Chair called 
the meeting to order. 
 

11607 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Moved by Councillor Jones, seconded by Councillor Sadr: 
 
That: 
a. the agenda, as presented to the meeting at C-504-1.1, Appendix A 

be approved as amended so that the in-camera session follows the 
Priority Items portion of the meeting, and 

b. the Chair be authorized to suspend the regular order of business. 
 

CARRIED 

11608 
PRESIDENT/REGISTRAR’S REPORT 
 

Registrar McDonald advised that his most recent Registrar’s Update 
included a PEO Media Release regarding comments made in the press by 
current and past Councillors regarding the Nipigon River Bridge.  
 

11609 
CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL 
COMPETENCE PROGRAM (CP)² TASK 
FORCE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

Council was asked to approve the Terms of Reference and authorize the 
creation of the Continuing Professional Competence Program (CP)² task 
Force. 
 
Moved by Councillor Brown, seconded by Councillor Sadr: 

 
That Council:  

1. Approve the Terms of Reference for the Continuing 
Professional Competence Program (CP)² Task Force as 
presented to the meeting at C-504-2.1, Appendix A. 

2. Approve a budget of $10,000.00 for the Continuing Professional 
Competence Program (CP)²  Task Force; 

3. Approve the roster for the Continuing Professional 
Competence Program (CP)²  Task Force as presented to the 
meeting at C-504-2.1, Appendix B; and  
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4. Direct the Registrar to arrange an initial meeting of the new 
Task Force within 30 days. 

CARRIED 
 
Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Brown: 
 
That Council:  

1. Approve the Terms of Reference for the Continuing 
Professional Competence Program (CP)2 Task Force as 
presented to the meeting at C-504-2.1, Appendix A as 
amended by; 

a) Adding the words “and budget” after operational under 
item e) 

b) Deleting item “f” from the Terms of Reference and 
referring it to the Licensing Committee (LIC) with a report 
back to Council date to align with the deadline of the (CP)² 
Task Force. 

CARRIED 

Council then voted on motions 2, 3 and 4. 

That Council:  

2. Approve a budget of $10,000.00 for the Continuing 
Professional Competence Program (CP)²  Task Force; 

3. Approve the roster for the Continuing Professional 
Competence Program (CP)²  Task Force as presented to the 
meeting at C-504-2.1, Appendix B; and  

4. Direct the Registrar to arrange an initial meeting of the new 
Task Force within 30 days. 

CARRIED 

Vice-President Quinn opposed. 
 

11610 
CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL 
COMPETENCE PROGRAM (CP)² 
COMMUNICATIONS PLAN 
 
 
 
 

A Communications Plan to inform PEO members about the Continuing 
Professional Competence Program in order to encourage participation in 
the program’s voluntary rollout and in a referendum on making it a 
mandatory program was presented.   
 
Moved by Councillor Sadr, seconded by Councillor Colucci: 
 
That Council approve the Communications Plan for the Continuing 
Professional Competence Program as presented to the meeting at C-
504-2.2, Appendix A. 

CARRIED 
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Vice-President Quinn opposed. 

 

Councillor Chui referred to his comments at the February 4, 2016 
Plenary regarding involvement of Chapters in the Continuing 
Professional Competence Program (CP)².  Registrar McDonald replied 
that his request for Chapter involvement would relate more to the 
rollout of the program once it is developed than to the Communications 
Plan.   

 

Councillor Fraser requested that the FAQ  document include both pros 
and cons so that there is a balanced argument.  Registrar McDonald 
replied that the document would include all feedback from the Townhall 
meetings, etc.   

 
11611 
TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR COUNCIL 
TERM LIMITS TASK FORCE (CTL) 
 
 
 

In response to two member resolutions passed at the 2015 Annual 
General Meeting, Council approved, at its November 2015 meeting, the 
creation of a Council Term Limits Task Force.  The Registrar was directed 
to develop the draft terms of reference and a proposed list of members 
for the task force to examine the issues of term limits and succession 
planning for Council positions for approval by Council at its February 
2016 meeting.     
 
Moved by Councillor Brown, seconded by Councillor Colucci: 

                            

1. That Council approve the Terms of Reference for the Council 

Term Limits Task Force as presented to the meeting at C-504 

2.3, Appendix A. 

2. That Council approve a budget of $7,500 for the Council Term 

Limits Task Force. 

3. That Council approve the appointment of members to the 

Council Term Limits Task Force as presented at C-504 2.3, 

Appendix B. 

 
Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Past President Adams: 
 
That Council approve the Terms of Reference for the Council Term 
Limits Task Force as presented to the meeting at C-504 2.3, Appendix A 
as amended by: 

a) Removing item 3. from Key Duties and Responsibilities 
b) Amending item 4 to read “Provide a report to Council no later 

than at its February 2017 meeting, detailing pros, cons and 
principles and recommendations regarding term limits and 
succession planning for all Council positions."  

CARRIED 
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Council then voted on motions 2 and 3. 
 

2. That Council approve a budget of $7,500 for the Council Term 

Limits Task Force. 

3. That Council approve the appointment of members to the 

Council Term Limits Task Force as presented at C-504 2.3, 

Appendix B. 

CARRIED 
 

Councillor Fraser noted that with respect to the removal of item 3 from 
Key Duties and Responsibilities regarding the development of a clear 
statement of policy intent for the purposes of Regulation changes, that 
the intent is there will be regulation changes if needed.   

 
11612 
LEGISLATION COMMITTEE – RESCINDING 
COUNCIL MOTIONS 
 

There are Council motions calling for amendments to Regulations 941 
and 260 for the purpose of creating an Engineer of Record.  The motions 
called for proper peer review and consultation.  The Regulatory Protocol 
requires Council to direct any proposed changes to the Regulations to 
the Legislation Committee for guidance.  The Committee reviewed the 
proposals and decided that it was not possible through revision of the 
Regulations to meet the policy intent of these motions.   
 
Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Kossta: 
 
That the following motions be rescinded: 
 
C-472, 11013 ENGINEER OF RECORD 

That the CEO/Registrar:  

a) in consultation with the Professional Standards Committee, 
shall undertake to study and to propose amendments to 
Regulations 941 and 260 under the Professional Engineers Act 
and PEO Guidelines to incorporate "Engineer of Record and 
Review Commitment", with proper peer review and 
consultation, to ensure lines of responsibility are clear for all 
work related to the practice of professional engineering and 
that in a multi-disciplined project, each discipline must be 
signed off by a Professional Engineer; and  

b) report back to Council at March 2012 meeting.  
 

 C-476, 11069  ENGINEER OF RECORD 
That: 
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a) the performance standard on General Review Commitment 
Regulation 260-08 be revised to provide a clear line of 
responsibility for the integrity of the design and general review 
by sealing and signing the drawings; and 

b) the CEO/Registrar be authorized to contact the appropriate 
authority with responsibility for dealing with stages, bridges, 
manufacturing processes and engineered products with the 
purpose of ensuring there is a clear line of responsibility for the 
engineering component of the work. 

 
Moved by Councillor Gupta, seconded by Councillor Chui: 
 
That this item be tabled. 

DEFEATED 
 

Council then voted on the main motion. 
 
That the following motions be rescinded: 
 
C-472, 11013 ENGINEER OF RECORD 

That the CEO/Registrar:  

c) in consultation with the Professional Standards Committee, 
shall undertake to study and to propose amendments to 
Regulations 941 and 260 under the Professional Engineers Act 
and PEO Guidelines to incorporate "Engineer of Record and 
Review Commitment", with proper peer review and 
consultation, to ensure lines of responsibility are clear for all 
work related to the practice of professional engineering and 
that in a multi-disciplined project, each discipline must be 
signed off by a Professional Engineer; and  

d) report back to Council at March 2012 meeting.  
 

 C-476, 11069  ENGINEER OF RECORD 

That: 

c) the performance standard on General Review Commitment 
Regulation 260-08 be revised to provide a clear line of 
responsibility for the integrity of the design and general review 
by sealing and signing the drawings; and 

d) the CEO/Registrar be authorized to contact the appropriate 
authority with responsibility for dealing with stages, bridges, 
manufacturing processes and engineered products with the 
purpose of ensuring there is a clear line of responsibility for the 
engineering component of the work.   

CARRIED 
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RECORDED VOTE 
 

For                Against               Abstain 

I. Bhatia                            J. D. Adams                      D. Chui            
D. Brown                          L. King                               S. Gupta 
N. Colucci                         P. Quinn                           R. Huang 
G. Comrie 
B. Dony 
R. Fraser 
R. Jones 
B. Kossta                                                                            
E. Kuczera 
M. Long-Irwin      
D. Preley              
S. Reid                          
S. Robert                                                    
C. Sadr                             
R. Shreewastav                             
M. Spink 
W. Turnbull 

 
Council recessed for break. 
 
Upon reconvening, President Chong presented the following Councillors with service pins and certificates in 
appreciation of their volunteer services to Professional Engineers Ontario: 
 

Councillor Jones – 10 years  
Councillor King – 15 years 
Councillor Colucci – 25 years 
Vice-President Quinn  – 25 years 
 

President-elect Comrie presented President Chong with a 15 year service pin and certificate in appreciation of his 
volunteer service to Professional Engineers Ontario. 
 
11613 
ENGINEERING DIMENSIONS EDITORIAL 
OBJECTIVES (from November 2015 
Council meeting) 
 

Vice-President Quinn requested that the following motion be 
withdrawn.   

That: 

1.  Council approves the objectives as presented to the meeting at 
C-503-2.5, Appendix A; 

 
2. Council approves the establishment of a three person Advisory 

Communications Board, (the ACB), to act for Council, (with final 
decision making authority should the Editor require guidance 
as to content), and report to Council for ratification of its 
decisions in a timely fashion; 
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3. The ACB consist of three recent past-presidents willing to 

serve, who will establish its terms of office and reference for 
Council approval; 
 

4. Council agrees that the renewal of Engineering Dimensions is a 
matter where time is of the essence, and that all shall act 
accordingly;  
 

5. The ACB have an annual expense allowance of $2,000 from the 
operations budgets. 

WITHDRAWN BY CONSENSUS 

11614 
ENGINEERING DIMENSIONS EDITORIAL 
OBJECTIVES 
 

PEO’s recent Communications Audit recommended that PEO periodically 
review its communications products for their relevance, timeliness and 
impact.  Given the audit report findings and recommendations, it is 
desirable to revise the objectives to enable staff to develop more 
engaging content that continues to focus on PEO’s mandate. 

Moved by Vice-President Quinn, seconded by Councillor Kossta: 

That Council approve the following revised Editorial Objectives for 
Engineering Dimensions as presented at C-504-2.6, Appendix A: 

Engineering Dimensions, while focusing on the legal, regulatory and 
ethical aspects of the profession, as well as PEO operations and 
chapter activities, has an objective of publishing an interesting, 
informative, and stimulating periodical: 

   To provide information on the practice of professional 
engineering, PEO activities, and appropriate topics of current 
general interest; 

   To showcase the achievements of engineers and engineering 
practices; 

   To be a forum for the exchange among members of ideas and 
knowledge, but especially related to the practice of 
professional engineering and the activities of the association; 

  To provide information to members on events, issues and 
public policy developments, especially those relevant to the 
practice of professional engineering in Ontario; 

  To promote public awareness of the Professional Engineers 
Act, the role of the association and the responsibilities of 
professional engineers.   

CARRIED 

11615 
IN-CAMERA SESSION 

Moved by President-elect Comrie, seconded by Councillor Jones: 
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That Council move in-camera. 
CARRIED 

 
While in-camera, Council: 
a) ratified the in-camera minutes of the Executive Committee, held on 

December 3,  2015, as presented to the meeting at C-504-4.1, 
Appendix A; 

b) verified the in-camera minutes from the 503rd meeting of Council 
held November 20, 2015 as amended; 

c) approved proposed Act Changes related to the Belanger 
recommendations and that this item be moved to open session;  

d) approved the 2016 V.G. Smith Awardee; 
e) received a report regarding the data gathering and analysis plan  

related to the Repeal of the Industrial Exception and that this item 
be moved to open session; 

f) approved the Industrial Exception Response Strategy 
g) received a report from the HRC Committee; 
h) received the Council evaluation survey results; 
i) received a legal opinion obtained related to PEO reporting of public 

safety concerns to other regulatory authorities; 
j) received decisions and reasons of the Discipline Committee; 
k) received a legal update on legal actions in which PEO is involved; 
l) received the Complaints Review Councillor Report; 
m) there were no issues reported regarding PEO’s Anti-Workplace 

Violence and Harassment Policy. 
 

11616 
BELANGER RECOMMENDATIONS – 
PROPOSED ACT CHANGES 

This item was moved to open session from in-camera. 
 
4.3a Continuing Professional Development 
Council was asked to consider an amendment to the Act to provide the 
authority to impose mandatory continuing professional development 
requirements and sanctions for non-compliance for licence, limited 
licence and temporary licence holders.   
 
Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Shreewastav: 
 

That Council approves the policy intent to amend the Professional 

Engineers Act to provide the authority for mandating Continuing 

Professional Development (CPD) requirements for all licence holders, 

limited licence holders, and temporary licence holders.   

CARRIED 
 
4.3b Provision of Practitioner Information on PEO’s Website 
Council was asked to consider an amendment to the Act to add 
Disciplinary information to the register and to require all register 
information to be available and accessible on the website. 
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Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Shreewastav: 
 
That Council approves the policy intent to amend the Professional 

Engineers Act to expand the list of information that may be included in 

the register, and that all register information may be available and 

accessible on the website. In particular, the date of any Discipline 

hearing, the date of a decision of the Discipline Committee, its findings 

of professional misconduct or incompetence, the penalty imposed, and 

a link to the decision and reasons.  

CARRIED 

4.3c Lowering of Threshold for By-Law Confirmation by Members 

The Legislation Committee recommended that Council amend section 

8(3) of the Professional Engineers Act to allow by-laws passed by Council 

to be confirmed by a majority of voting members. This change will also 

enable sections 7(1)25 and 8(1)16 of the PEA to be proclaimed to 

support moving fees from Regulations to By-Laws.  

Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Shreewastav: 

That Council approves the policy intent to amend section 8(3) of the 
Professional Engineers Act to allow bylaws as specified and approved 
by Council to be confirmed by a majority of members voting. 

CARRIED 
 

4.3d Additions of Limited License Holders to those Qualified to Design 
Certain Building Structures 
 
Policy intent to amend the Professional Engineers Act was proposed to 
give limited license holders the same right to practice in all areas of 
professional engineering including building design as professional 
engineers.   
 
Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Shreewastav: 

That Council approves the policy intent to amend the Professional 

Engineers Act to include holders of limited licence to design certain 

buildings within their limited scope of practice in addition to 

professional engineers. 

CARRIED 

4.3e Suspension of Licenses for Past Conduct 

Policy intent to amend the Professional Engineers Act to give the 



 

504
th

 Meeting of Council – February 4-5, 2016 
Page 11 of 16 

 

Registrar the authority to issue a notice of proposal to suspend a licence 

where warranted by past conduct, similar to the authority to do so for 

limited licences, temporary licences, providional licences and Certificates 

of Authorization under section 18(2) was proposed.   

Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Shreewastav: 

That Council approves the policy intent to amend the Professional 

Engineers Act to provide the Registrar with the authority to issue a 

notice of proposal to suspend a licence where warranted by past 

conduct, subject to a hearing on the notice of proposal by the 

Registration Committee. 

CARRIED 
 
4.3f Update Act Language for Payment of Fines to Minister of Finance 

In 2009, amendments to the Financial Administration Act stipulated that 
all references to the “Treasurer of Ontario” or “Minister of Economics” 
in other acts were to be read as referring to the “Minister of Finance”.  
The section of the Professional Engineers Act concerning fines still 
references the “Treasurer of Ontario” and should be updated. 

Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Shreewastav: 

That Council approves the policy intent to amend the Professional 

Engineers Act to update language in section 28(4(h) to match that of 

the Financial Administration Act. 

CARRIED 
 
4.3g Provide Public Access to Disciplinary Hearings Exhibits, Evidence 
and Transcripts 
 
Policy intent to amend the Professional Engineers Act to allow members 
of the public to access Disciplinary hearing evidence, exhibits and 
transcripts, except where evidence or exhibits were excluded in the 
course of that hearing was proposed. 
 
Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Shreewastav: 

That Council approves the policy intent to amend the Professional 

Engineers Act to allow members of the public to get copies of 

Disciplinary hearing evidence, exhibits, and transcripts at their own 

expense, unless the Discipline Committee excludes evidence or exhibits 

pursuant to Section 28(4.1). 

CARRIED 
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4.3h Allowing Release of Information to Other Regulatory Authorities 
Occasionally, in the course of their duties, employment, examination, 

review or investigation, PEO staff gain information on a holder of a 

licence or Certificate of Authorization that suggests a public safety risk 

that is outside of PEO’s jurisdiction.  

PEO has no explicit authority to release non-public information obtained 

in the course of PEO’s regulatory mandate on public safety concerns to 

any persons except under subsections 38 (1)(a) through (c), without 

opening them up to prosecution under section 38(3).    

This amendment would enable PEO to forward public safety concerns 

arising from information received regarding a holder of any licence or 

Certificate of Authorization to the appropriate regulatory authorities for 

further investigation or actions under that organization’s jurisdiction. 

These could include federal, provincial or municipal governments (or 

their departments, ministries, special purpose bodies, agencies, boards 

or commissions), or the OPP or local police services. The net effect 

would be greater public safety by investigating other concerns, subject 

to the procedural safeguards of those other regulatory authorities. This 

provision would also protect PEO staff from prosecution for an offence 

or fine under section 38(3) from disclosing such information.  

Ministries and local building officials will likely welcome receipt of 

information that may assist with their investigation of other alleged 

infractions involving that individual or company 

Moved by Councillor Fraser, seconded by Councillor Shreewastav: 

That Council approves the policy intent to amend the Professional 

Engineers Act to give the Registrar authority to release information 

that comes to an authorized person in the course of their duties, 

employment, examination, review or investigation pertaining to a 

holder of a licence, limited licence, or temporary licence to other 

regulatory authorities for their investigation within their respective 

jurisdiction. 

CARRIED 
 

11617 
REPEAL OF INDUSTRIAL EXCEPTION – 
DATA GATHERING AND ANALYSIS PLAN 
UPDATE 
 

This item was moved from in-camera to open session. 
 
L. Latham, Deputy Registrar, Regulatory Compliance, advised that the 
repeal research project is continuing; however, there is some delay 
because the information requested from the Ministry of Labour is  
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voluminous and as such they are having some challenges with their 
clerical ability to assemble and redact the information.  As a result, the 
original timeline for the end of 2015 has now been pushed back to the 
end of February.  This in turn will delay the final report to Council until 
the June 2016 Council meeting. 
 

11618 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 
 

President-elect Comrie acted as Chair on behalf of President Chong who 
had to leave the meeting.   
 
Moved by Councillor Colucci, seconded by Councillor Sadr: 
 
That the Consent Agenda be approved.   

CARRIED 
Included on the consent agenda: 
3.1 Minutes – 241st Executive Committee meeting – November 2, 

2015 
3.2 Minutes – 242nd Executive Committee meeting – December 3, 

2015 
3.3 Minutes – 503rd Council meeting – November 20, 2015 
3.4 Changes to Committees/Task Forces Roster 
3.5 Awards Committee (AWC) HR and Work Plans  
 
 [Note: minutes 11619 to 11623 reflect the motions provided in the 
briefing notes presented to the meeting.] 
 

11619 
 MINUTES – 241ST EXE COMMITTEE 
MEETING – NOVEMBER 2, 2015 
 

That the minutes of the open session of the 241ST meeting of the 
Executive Committee,  held on November 2, 2015 as presented to the 
meeting at C-504-3.1, Appendix A be ratified. 

CARRIED 
 

11620 
 MINUTES – 242ND EXE COMMITTEE 
MEETING – DECEMBER 3, 2015 
 

That the minutes of the open session of the 242nd meeting of the 
Executive Committee,  held on December 3, 2015 as presented to the 
meeting at C-504-3.2, Appendix A be ratified. 

CARRIED 
 

11621  
MINUTES – 503RD COUNCIL MEETING – 
NOVEMBER 20, 2015 
 
 

That the minutes of the open session of the 503rd meeting of Council, 
held on November 20, 2015 as presented to the meeting at C-504-3.3, 
Appendix A accurately reflect the business transacted at that meeting. 

CARRIED 
 

11622 
CHANGES TO COMMITTEES/TASK FORCES 
ROSTER 
 

That Council approve changes to the 2016 PEO Committees and Task 
Forces Membership Roster as presented at C-504-3.4, Appendix A. 

CARRIED 

11623 
AWARDS COMMITTEE (AWC) HR AND 
WORKPLANS 
 

That Council approve the Awards Committee (AWC) 2016 work plan 

and human resources plan as presented at C-504-3.5, Appendix A. 

CARRIED 
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11624 
APTIFY UPDATE 
 

Council was provided with a written report regarding progress to date.   
Registrar McDonald reported that the project is moving along well, 
however the completion date has been extended by three weeks to 
allow for delivery of certain program elements.  That being said, the 
project is still within budget. Registrar McDonald noted that, given the 
three week project implementation delay, the contract with Deloitte 
would be amended by $36,000 to ensure we had their services up to full 
implementation. 

 
11625 
LEGISLATION COMMITTEE UPDATE 
 

There was no update. 

11626 
REGIONAL CONGRESS UPDATE 
 

Councillor Sadr advised that there have been no Regional Congress since 
the last Council meeting.    

11627 
ENGINEERS CANADA UPDATE 
 

Engineers Canada President-elect Roney provided updates on the 
following items that are upcoming at the February 23-24th Engineers 
Canada Board meeting: 
 

 Discussion and presentation on the Trans-Pacific Partnership 
agreement that was signed on February 4, 2016 

 Panel discussion on influencing codes, regulations and standards 

 Accreditation 
 
President-elect Roney advised that a questionnaire was being sent to 
Council with some general questions on how Engineers Canada can 
support PEO as part of the linkages process.   
 

11628 
STATISTICS  - COMPLAINTS, DISCIPLINE,  
LICENSING AND REGISTRATION 
 

There were no questions or comments. 

11629 
CORRESPONDENCE FROM THE ATTORNEY 
GENERAL REGARDING THE INDUSTRIAL 
EXCEPTION 
 

Council was provided with the Attorney General’s response to President 
Chong’s email regarding the government’s decision to maintain the 
industrial exception in the Professional Engineers Act. 

11630 
COUNCILLOR ITEMS 
 

a) Inclusion of Budget Information in Briefing Notes 
Councillor Chui referred to the $10,000 budget that was requested 
for the Continuing  Professional Competence Program (CP)²  and 
requested that all briefing notes include the appropriate budget 
information whenever there are budget implications.   
 

b) Central Election and Search Committee (CESC) 
A. Bergeron, CESC Chair, advised that there was 3.3% voter turnout 
as of February 4, 2016.  She encouraged Councillors to spread the 
word amongst their colleagues to increase voter participation.     
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c) Election Issues 

Councillor Chui referred to the approximately 1,000 voting packages 
that were sent electronically that were rejected.  He also noted that 
when he received his hard copy of the voting package there was 
nothing on the envelope to indicate that it was from PEO. 
R. Martin advised that the electronic voting packages were sent out 
on January 22, 2016 and that two more attempts (January 23 and 
24) were made to deliver the rejected packages.  Hard copies were 
sent to those members with undeliverable email addresses on 
Monday, January 25, 2016.  He further noted that this item, as well 
as the concern regarding the unmarked envelope, will be added to 
the Issues Report that will be reviewed by the CESC who will make 
recommendations for Council’s consideration at its September 2016 
meeting. 
 
Councillor Sadr advised that a number of people he spoke to were 
not aware that the voting package was being sent electronically this 
year.  He noted that since this is the first year that this was being 
done that reminders should be sent out.   
R. Martin advised that an eBlast was recently issued regarding this as 
well as the Robocall from the CESC Chair on January 22, 2016; 
however, this concern will be added to the Issues Report. 
 
Councillor Jones noted that those who do not vote as soon as they 
receive their email could have difficulties retrieving the email or they 
may have deleted it.   
R. Martin advised that there is a Help Desk number on PEO’s website 
that voters can call if they have misplaced their ID and PIN number. 
 
Councillor Jones referred to the Robocall and the delay that took 
place once he answered the phone noting that when someone 
answers the phone and there is a delay they tend to hang up 
immediately because they believe it is a telemarketer.    
  

d) Notice of Motion - Succession Planning 
Councillor Spink advised that the need for governance 
improvements was mentioned by several candidates during the All 
Candidates meetings and that she intends to bring forward a motion 
calling for the creation of a Governance Committee.     

 
e) PEO Volunteer Web Module 

Councillor Shreewastav congratulated the Registrar and team for the 
PEO volunteer web module noting that it is an excellent resource for 
new and experienced Councillors.   The link to this web module will 
be sent to all Councillors.   

 
f) Voting 
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Councillor Bhatia congratulated the Registrar and staff on the voting 
process which was very easy.   
 

 
There being no further business, the meeting concluded. 
 
These minutes consist of sixteen pages and minutes 11607 to 11630 inclusive. 
 
  
 
 
 
_____________________________________   __________________________________ 
T. Chong, M.Sc., P.Eng., FEC, PMP, Chair    G. McDonald, P.Eng., Registrar 



Briefing Note–Decision 

 
 
505th Council meeting, March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
LIMITED ENGINEERING LICENSEE AND LICENSED ENGINEERING 
TECHNOLOGIST – APPROVAL OF SEAL DESIGNS 
    
Purpose:  To approve the Limited Engineering Licensee (LEL) and Licensed Engineering 
Technologist (LET) Seals to be issued to qualified Limited Licence holders and LETs. 
 
Motion(s) to approve/direct:  (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
 
That Council approve for use the design of the seal for the Limited Engineering Licensee and 
Licensed Engineering Technologist class of limited licence as presented to the meeting at C-
505-3.2(i) and (ii), Appendix B, effective immediately. 
 
That the Experience Requirements Committee be required to specify a brief description of 
each applicant-specific limitation for the seal, that excludes PEO’s approved syllabi 
disciplines, to comply with Section 52(4)(f) of Regulation 941. 
   
[Council is authorized under section 7(1)12. of the Act to make regulations pertaining to the 
form of seals for limited licences. Council is required under subsection 52(4) of Regulation 941 
to approve the design of the seal for limited licence holders. Section 52(5) sets out the title 
variation to be used on the seals of licensed engineering technologists.]  
 
 
Prepared by: J. Max, Manager, Policy  
Moved by: Roydon Fraser, P.Eng., Chair, Legislation Committee 

 
1. Need for PEO Action 

 
• Applications for the new Limited Licence and LET class of limited licence began to be 

processed effective July 1, 2015 to comply with O.Reg 71/15. Council is required under 
subsection 52(4) of Regulation 941 to approve the design of the seal for limited licence 
holders. Section 52(5) sets out the title variation to be used on the seals of licensed 
engineering technologist class of limited licence. As per the 1993 Council motion 
regarding Corporate Identity, the PEO Corporate Logo also continues to appear on the 
seal.  The relevant citations for sections 52 and 55.1 are found in Appendix A. The draft 
seals are found in Appendix B. 

 
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 

 
• That Council approve the design of the seal to be used by the limited engineering licensee and 

licensed engineering technologist class of limited licence holder, to prepare PEO to issue the first 
limited licences and licensed engineering technologists after July 1, 2015.  

 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 
 

• Staff will continue to process applications for the new limited licences and the LET class of 
Limited Licence, and issue licences and seals to those who meet the qualifications. PEO would 

C-505-3.2 
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also advise its members, the other provincial associations, OACETT, government and 
local building officials, and other stakeholders of the existence of the new seal. No 
further Council action is required. 

 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 
 

 
Process 
Followed 

• At the 498th

 

 meeting held on February 6, 2015, Council approved a series of 
amendments to Regulation 941 to implement changes to the limited licence and 
the Certificate of Authorization. These changes included introducing a limited 
engineering technologist (LET) class of limited licence for OACETT members in 
good standing who also hold the Certified Engineering Technologist (CET) 
designation from OACETT.  These Regulation changes were approved by the 
provincial Cabinet and filed on April 2, 2015 as O. Reg. 71/15, and effective July 1, 
2015. At its April 25, 2015 meeting, Council approved the application forms for 
the Limited Licence (including the LET class of Limited Licence) and the Certificate 
of Authorization, as referenced in O. Reg. 71/15. The seal design is based on the 
current limited licence seal, with wording specified in subsections 52(4) and (5) of 
O. Reg. 941 and recommended by the Licensing and Registration Department.  

Council 
Identified 
Review 

• Council previously approved a new Corporate Seal (required on legal documents) 
and the design of the current limited licence seal on November 12, 1993.   

• The design of the new limited engineering licensee and licensed engineering 
technologist seals are based on the current limited licence seal with wording as 
specified in subsections 51(4) and (5) of Regulation 941, so no prior Council 
review is necessary. 

 
Actual 
Motion 
Review 

• At the February 5th

1. That the Legislation Committee recommend to Council that the draft LEL and 
LET seals be modified by removing the word “category”, adding “licence” in 
front of “certificate” and that all LL and LET seals have a maximum of an 8-
word summary of the licence holder’s limitation(s) to be determined by the 
Experience Requirements Committee.   

 Legislation Committee meeting, the committee passed the 
following motions. 

2. That Council’s opinion be sought whether to continue to use the PEO 
corporate logo on the LEL and LET seals.    

3. That this recommendation be presented to Council at its March 2016 
meeting. 

• The Chair of the Legislation Committee reviewed and approved the Council 
motions    

• At its March 4, 2016 meeting, the Committee further amended the second motion 
to allow more flexibility for the Experience Requirements Committee to provide a 
brief description of the limitations on each seal. 

 
5. Appendices 

• Appendix A – Citations of section 52(4) and (5) of Regulation 941.  
• Appendix B – Designs of Seal for “Limited Engineering Licensee” and “Licensed Engineering 

Technologist” 
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Appendix A - Citations of section 52(4) and (5) and 55.1(2) and (3) of Regulation 941 
 

 52. (4)  Subject to subsection (5), every holder of a limited licence shall have a seal of a design approved by the 
Council, the impression of which shall include, 
 (a) the surname and initials of the holder of the limited licence; 
 (b) the words “Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario” and one or more of the following: 
 (i) “Limited Engineering Licensee”, 
 (ii) “titulaire de permis restreint d'ingénieur”, 
 (iii) “LEL”, 
 (iv) “PRI”; 
 (c) the limited licence number; 
 (d) a statement that the limited licence is limited to the services within the practice of professional engineering 

mentioned in the limited licence; and 
 (e) REVOKED

 (f) a statement of the limitations on the limited licence that may affect the public. R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 941, s. 52 
(4); O. Reg. 13/03, s. 15 (3); O. Reg. 71/15, s. 19 (1-3). 

:  O. Reg. 13/03, s. 15 (3). 

 (5)  In the case of a holder of an engineering technologist class of limited licence, clause (4) (b) does not apply, and 
the holder’s seal shall instead include the words “Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario” and one or more 
of the following: 
 1. “Licensed Engineering Technologist”. 
 2. “technologue en ingénierie titulaire de permis”. 
 3. “LET”. 
 4. “TITP”. O. Reg. 71/15, s. 19 (4). 
 
 55.1   (2)  The following are the titles and abbreviations that may be used in the practice of professional 
engineering by the holder of a limited licence: 
 1. “Limited Engineering Licensee” or “titulaire de permis restreint d’ingénieur”. 
 2. “LEL” or “PRI”.  O. Reg. 205/09, s. 7. 
 (3)  The following are the titles and abbreviations that may be used in the practice of professional engineering by 
the holder of an engineering technologist class of limited licence: 
 1. “Licensed Engineering Technologist” or “technologue en ingénierie titulaire de permis”. 
 2. “LET” or “TITP”. O. Reg. 71/15, s. 20. 

C-505-3.2 
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Briefing Note – Decision  

 
 
505th  Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

  
 
CONSULTING ENGINEER DESIGNATION APPLICATIONS  
    
Purpose: Under Section 61(2) of Regulation 941 under the Professional Engineers Act, 
the Consulting Engineer Designation Committee (CEDC) may make recommendations 
to Council in respect of all matters relating to application for designation as a 
consulting engineer.  The CEDC is recommending that Council approve the following 
motions. 
 
Motion(s) for Council to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
 
1. That Council approve the exemption from examinations and the applications for 
designation as Consulting Engineer as presented to the meeting at C-505, Appendix A, 
Section 1. 

 
2. That Council approve the applications for re-designation as Consulting Engineer as 
presented to the meeting at C-505, Appendix A, Section 2. 
 
3. That Council decline the application for designation as Consulting Engineer as 
presented to the meeting at C-505, Appendix A, Section 3. 
 
4. That Council grant permission to use the title “Consulting Engineers” (or variations 
thereof) to the firms as presented to the meeting at C-505, Appendix A, Section 4. 
 
Prepared by: Lawrence Fogwill, P.Eng, Manager, Registration 
Moved by: Councillor Santosh Gupta, P.Eng. 
 
1. Need for PEO Action 
Council needs to accept the recommendations of the Consulting Engineer Designation 
Committee (CEDC) with respect to the applications submitted for its consideration 
before the applicants are informed of the PEO’s decision with respect to their 
application. 
  
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
That Council approve/deny the applications for designation and redesignation. 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved)  
The applicants will be advised of Council’s decision with respect to their applications. 
 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 

Process Followed 
 

All applications were reviewed by PEO staff, the Regional 
Subcommittees of CEDC and later approved by CEDC on 
January 28, 2016. 

Council Identified 
Review 

Not applicable.  Required by Regulation. 

Actual Motion 
Review 

As stated under above process. 

5. Appendices 
• Appendix A – Report of the Consulting Engineer Designation Committee 
• Appendix B – Legal Implications 

C-505-3.3 
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To the 505th

Professional Engineers Ontario 
 Meeting of the Council of  

 
 

Chair: Eric Nejat, P.Eng. 
REPORT OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER DESIGNATION COMMITTEE 

 
 
1. The Committee has reviewed the following applications for DESIGNATION and 

recommends to Council that these 8 applicants be exempted from examinations pursuant to 
Section 56(2) of O.Reg.941 and that they be considered for DESIGNATION AS CONSULTING 
ENGINEER, having met the requirements pursuant to Section 56(1) of O.Reg.941: 

 
# P.Eng. Company Name Address Licence # 

1.1 DEVOS, MICHAEL PETER Spriet Associates London Ltd. 
155 York St, London ON, N6G 
4Y8 90329830 

1.2 HALLSWORTH, LISA ANN Lisa Hallsworth, P.Eng. 
218 Avonlough Rd, Belleville 
ON, K8P 5GH 90365339 

1.3 ISABELLE, JOSEPH ROBERT KJA Consultants Inc. 
901-85 Richmond St W, 
Toronto ON, M5H 2C9 21426507 

1.4 LAWRENCE, NORMAN EDWARD Keewatin-Aski Ltd. 
61 Queen St, PO Box 510, 
Sioux Lookout, ON, P8T 1A8 25878455 

1.5 MIRHADI,  ALIREZA K-Tek Electro Services 
107-37 Sandiford Dr, 
Stouffville ON, L4A 7X5 90539446 

1.6 
PLENDERLEITH, DONALD 
HALLAM Golder Associates Ltd. 

1931 Robertson Rd, Ottawa 
ON, K2H 5B7 90382706 

1.7 SIDDIQUI, MOHAMMAD ILYAS Nasiruddin Engineering Ltd. 
1-6033 Shawson Dr,  
Mississauga ON, L5T 1H8 100059876 

1.8 ZUKOV, MICHAEL NICOLAS Arencon Inc. 
206-1551 Caterpillar Rd, 
Mississauga ON, L4X 2Z6 100146183 
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2. The Committee has reviewed the following applications for REDESIGNATION and 

recommends to Council that these 47 applicants be granted REDESIGNATION AS 
CONSULTING ENGINEER, having met the requirements pursuant to Section 57(2) of 
O.Reg.941: 

# P.Eng. Company Name Address Licence # 

2.1 BAILEY, CHARLES MARC Bailey Engineering Inc. 
505-675 Cochrane Dr, East 
Tower, Markham ON, L3R 0B8 90334558 

2.2 BARKER, PAUL DOUGLAS Flexion Engineering Inc. 
11-1155 North Service Rd W, 
Oakville ON, L6M 3E3 90328600 

2.3 
BENNEYWORTH, DOUGLAS 
ARTHUR Ausenco Engineering Canada 

100-1016B Sutton Dr, 
Burlington ON, L7L 6B8 3388014 

2.4 BORTOLOTTI, BRUNO JOHN 
Sfera Architectural Associates 
Inc. 

220-4510 Rhodes Dr, Windsor 
ON, N8W 5K5 4542015 

2.5 BROUGHTON, ERIC RIGG 
E.R. Broughton Associates 
Ltd. 

20 Clarence St, PO Box 89, 
Queenston ON, L0S 1L0 5405014 

2.6 
BRUMWELL, SCOTT 
WILLIAM 

Skelton, Brumwell & 
Associates Ltd. 

107-93 Bell Farm Rd, Barrie 
ON, L4M 5G1 5749502 

2.7 CHARNISH, BARRY DAVID Entuitive Corporation 
200 University Ave, 7th Floor, 
Toronto ON, M5H 3C6 7702012 

2.8 CHENG, STEPHEN SHU-MAN exp Services Inc. 
1595 Clark Blvd, Brampton 
ON, L6T 4V1 7877012 

2.9 CHUNG, NORMAN QUOC Poulos & Chung Ltd. 
535 Bur Oak Ave, Markham 
ON, L6C 2S5 90289158 

2.10 CONFORZI, JOHN PETER J.P. Conforzi & Associates Ltd. 
201-238 Gerrard St E, Toronto 
ON, M5A 2E8 9079013 

2.11 COOK, GREGORY KENT 
CC Tatham and Associates 
Ltd. 

4-41 King St, Barrie ON, L4N 
6B5 90331737 

2.12 COUTURE, DANIEL PATRICK  
Arcon Engineering 
Consultants Ltd. 

352 Consumers Rd, North York 
ON, M2J 1P8 9557505 

2.13 DECARIA, GIUSEPPE ANGELO Decaria Engineering Ltd. 
7-35 West Pearce St, 
Richmond Hill ON, L4B 3A9 11044500 

2.14 DI CIENZO, RALPH Landtek Limited 
3-205 Nebo Rd, Hamilton ON, 
L8W 2E1 90396748 

2.15 DIETZ, JEFFREY WILLIAM Englobe Corp. 
353 Bridge St E, Kitchener ON, 
N2K 2Y5 90553751 

2.16 DROUIN, ROLAND DONAT exp Services Inc. 
100-170 Deveault St, Gatineau 
QC, J8Z 1S6 12210019 

2.17 DZEKIC, SASA JNE Consulting Ltd. 
176 Shaw St, Hamilton ON, L8L 
3P7 90455049 

2.18 FERGUSON, JOHN ERNEST The Hidi Group 
200-155 Gordon Baker Rd, 
North York ON, M2H 3N5 14014500 

2.19 FREDERICK, JOHN CHARLES J Frederick Ltd. 
293 Fairlawn Ave, Toronto ON, 
M5M 1T2 14982011 

2.20 
HAMEL, CHRISTOPHER 
WILLIAM  GM Blueplan Engineering Ltd. 

402-3300 Highway 7, Vaughan 
ON, L4K 4M3 100025941 
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2.21 
HANNA, ROBERT 
ALEXANDER RPM Engineering Ltd. 

2816 Hammond Rd, 
Mississauga ON, L5K 2R1 18245514 

2.22 HANNIGAN, DONALD JAMES Hannigan Engineering Ltd. 
401-3901 Highway 7, Vaughan 
ON, L4L 8L5 18257014 

2.23 HAYDEN, ALFRED STANLEY EHA Engineering Ltd. 
Box 2711, Stn 8, Richmond Hill 
ON, L4E 1A7 18898015 

2.24 HEIN, BRIAN BRADLEY 
J.L. Richards & Associates 
Limited 

864 Lady Ellen Pl, Ottawa ON, 
K1Z 5M2 90368333 

2.25 JOSEPH, SIDNEY AIMS Environmental 
111-1020 Denison St, 
Markham ON, L3R 3W5 22596506 

2.26 KODSI, SAMEH MAMDOUH  Kodsi Engineering Inc. 
1-225 Traders Blvd, 
Mississauga ON, L4Z 3L8 90533068 

2.27 KRIEGER, GORDON ROBERT WSP 
69 Cleak Ave, Box 187, 
Bancroft ON, K0L 1C0 90213513 

2.28 LAW, STEVEN RICHARD Reinders + Rieder Ltd. 
201-57 Mill St N, Brampton 
ON, L6X 1S9 25839705 

2.29 LAWRENCE, ROSS DOUGLAS Watts, Griffis & McOuat Ltd. 
301-8 King St E, Toronto ON, 
M5C 1B5 25881012 

2.30 LEE, NORMAN WING CHIH Norman Lee & Associates Ltd. 
203-275 Renfrew Dr, 
Markham ON, L3R 0C8 26222505 

2.31 MAKSYMEC, ROBERT IHOR Planmac Engineering Inc. 
302-80 North Queen St, 
Toronto ON, M8Z 2C9 28740017 

2.32 MIDA, GIDON 
Power & Controls 
Engineering Ltd. 

4 Foothills Dr, Ottawa ON, K2H 
6K3 90350422 

2.33 MONS, RODNEY DUANE 
H.H. Angus and Associates 
Ltd. 

1127 Leslie St, Don Mills ON, 
M3C 2J6 32350506 

2.34 NEJAT, ERIC E.Z. Nejat & Associates Inc. 

10620 Yonge St, PO Box 
30529, Richmond Hill ON, L4C 
0C7 33717505 

2.35 PANETTA, SERGIO ANTONIO I-Gard Corp. 
7686 Bath Rd, Mississauga ON, 
L4T 1L2 90295411 

2.36 
PATEL, NILKANTHKUMAR 
BHAGUBHAI Neal Patel Engineering Ltd. 

146 Beverley Glen Blvd, 
Thornhill ON, L4J 7T6 35700012 

2.37 PEARCE, GLEN AARON Envirosearch Ltd. 
4166 15 Side Road, Rockwood 
ON, N0B 2K0 36011013 

2.38 POISSON, ROBERT ELPHEGE R.E. Poisson Engineering Inc. 
200-55 Cork St E, Guelph ON 
N1H 2W7 90277542 

2.39 
QURESHI, MOHAMMED 
YAHYA 

RCM Technologies Canada 
Corp. 

895 Brock Road S, Pickering 
ON, L1W 3C1 37845757 

2.40 RAPPOLT, ROBERT CECIL Maplerock Consulting Inc. 
221 Viceroy Rd, North Bay ON, 
P1B 8G4 90251653 

2.41 ROSS, ANDREW B.M. Ross and Associates Ltd. 
62 North St, Goderich ON, 
N7A 2T4 39718507 

2.42 RYAN, JOHN JAMES JOSEPH Ryan Associates Inc. 
3196 Lakeshore Rd, Burlington 
ON, L7N 1A4 40208019 

2.43 SCHEPERS, ALBERT 
Albert Schepers Engineering 
Ltd. 

2080 North Talbot Rd, 
Windsor ON, N9A 6J3 40941015 
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2.44 SCOTT, DAVID NELSON 
The Municipal Infrastructure 
Group Ltd. 

200-8800 Dufferin St, Vaughan 
ON, L4K 0C5 41224809 

2.45 TERSIGNI, LORETO Candevcon Ltd. 
9358 Goreway Dr, Brampton 
ON, L6P 0M7 90214081 

2.46 
THERRIAULT, WILLIAM 
TIMMIE Northshore Engineering 

184 McNaughton Ave, North 
Bay ON, P1C 1G7 46060802 

2.47 WELDON, RICHARD HAROLD 
Carson Dunlop Weldon & 
Assoc Ltd. 

212-120 Carlton St, Toronto 
ON, M5A 4K2 49421506 

 
 
 
3. The Committee has considered t he following application for DESIGNATION and 

recommends that the application be DECLINED. 
 

# P.Eng. Company Name Address Licence # 

3.1 HOUGHTON, GARY OLIVER Norfolk County 
PO Box 99, Port Stanley ON, 
N5L 1J4 20500013 

 
 
The CEDC recommends to the Council of the Association that Mr. Houghton’s 
application for designation be DECLINED because although this applicant has a current 
CofA, he has been employed by the municipal government for the past 3 years and 
does not have an active consulting practice, as it has been and still is dormant with no 
active works, such as marketing, that would make him “currently engaged” in the 
independent practice of professional engineering in Canada {Sections 56.(1) item (b) 
and 57 (2) item (b)}.  He does not plan to do consulting work (independent practice) 
until after he retires, which will be 2 to 3 years from now. 
 
 
4.  The Committee recommends to Council that the following 4 FIRMS be granted 
PERMISSION TO USE THE TITLE “CONSULTING ENGINEERS”, having met the 
requirements pursuant to Section 68 of O.Reg.941:  
 

# Company Name Address Designated Consulting Engineer (s) 

4.1 Orbit Engineering Limited 
9-1900 Clark Blvd, Brampton 
ON, L6T 0B9 Hafiz Muneeb Ahmad, P.Eng. 

4.2 RCM Technologies Canada Corp. 
895 Brock Rd S, Pickering ON, 
L1C 3C1 

John Paul Brock, P.Eng. And Sergej 
Jacenko, P.Eng. 

4.3 
Steer Davies Gleave North America 
Incorporated 

1500-330 Bay St, Toronto ON, 
M5H 2S8 Louis Tilatti, P.Eng. 

4.4 UTS Consultants Inc. 
195 David St S, 3rd Flr, Fergus 
ON, N1M 2L4 Clayton Jamison Uyede, P.Eng. 
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CONSULTING ENGINEER DESIGNATION APPLICATIONS 
 
 
 

 
Legal Implications/Authority 

1. Pursuant to Section 56(2),Council has the authority to exempt an applicant from 
any of the examinations required by section 56(1) to be taken by an applicant for 
a Consulting Engineer Designation if Council is satisfied that the applicant has 
appropriate qualifications. 
 

     Pursuant to Section 56(1) Council shall designate as a Consulting Engineer   
every a pplicant f or t he D esignation who meets t he r equirements s et out  i n 
Section 56(1)(a-d).  As a result there does not appear to be any discretion for 
Council to refuse applicants who meet the requirements. 

 
2. Pursuant to Section 57(2) Council shall redesignate as a consulting engineer 

every applicant who meets the requirements of section 57(2) (a-c). As a result 
there does not appear to be any discretion for Council to refuse applicants who 
meet the requirements. 
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 Engineers of Ontario 

CHANGES TO THE 2016 PEO COMMITTEES AND TASK FORCES MEMBERSHIP ROSTER 
 
Purpose:  To approve changes to Section 2 (Other Committees reporting to Council) of the 
2016 PEO Committees and Task Forces Membership Roster. 
 
Motion(s) to consider:  (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
 
That Council approve changes to the 2016 PEO Committees and Task Forces 
Membership Roster as presented to the meeting at C-505-3.4, Appendix A. 
Prepared by: Fern Gonçalves, CHRP, Director People Development 
Moved by: Councillor Colucci, P.Eng. 
 
1. Need for PEO Action 
It is the role of Council to approve annual rosters of committee members under the Committees 
and Task Forces Policy (Role of Council, Item 4) and authorize the membership of those 
volunteers who formally participate on its behalf through membership on committees and task 
forces. Furthermore, Council is asked to approve volunteer members of committees and task 
forces in accordance with PEO’s insurance policy requirements.   
 
Council approved the 2016 PEO Committees and Task Forces Membership Roster at the 
November 20, 2015 meeting.  
 
Appendix A sets out changes to the Section 2 (Other Committees Reporting to Council) of the 
approved Roster that require Council approval at this time. 
 
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
Approve the changes to Section 2 of the 2016 PEO Committees and Task Forces Membership 
Roster as per the Committees and Task Forces Policy, Role of Council (Item 4). 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 
a. The newly appointed and re-appointed members will be notified accordingly. 
b. Names of newly elected or re-elected Committee Chairs will be posted on the PEO’s website. 
c. The updated 2016 PEO Committee and Task Force Membership Roster will be posted on 

PEO’s website.  
 

4. Peer Review & Process Followed 
Process 
Followed 

Committees and Task Forces Policy – Role of Council 
Item 4: Approve the annual roster of committee members. 

 
5. Appendices 

• Appendix A – Changes to Section 2 (Other Committees reporting to Council) of the 2016 
PEO Committees and Task Forces Membership Roster. 
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New appointments: 
 

First/Last Name Service Dates Committee / Task Force 

Charles Eddie, P.Eng., CD Feb 2, 2016 – Dec 
31, 2016 

Consulting Engineer Designation Committee 
(CEDC) – Toronto subcommittee (East 
Central Region) 

John Rosenthal, P.Eng., CD 
 

Feb 2, 2016 – Dec 
31, 2016 

Consulting Engineer Designation Committee 
(CEDC) – Toronto subcommittee (East 
Central Region) 

Mohamed Hamed, P.Eng. 
 

Feb 2, 2016 – Dec 
31, 2016 

Experience Requirements Committee (ERC)  

Balaji Kumar, P.Eng. Jan 27, 2016 – 
Dec 31, 2016 

Experience Requirements Committee (ERC) 

Neil Kennedy, P.Eng. Mar 11, 2016 – 
Dec 31, 2016 

Professional Standards Committee (PSC) – 
Design Evaluations of Demountable Event 
Structures subcommittee (Chair) 

Jeff Archbold, P.Eng. Mar 11, 2016 – 
Dec 31, 2016 

Professional Standards Committee (PSC) – 
Design Evaluations of Demountable Event 
Structures subcommittee  

Antonino (Tony) Crimi, 
P.Eng. 

Mar 11, 2016 – 
Dec 31, 2016 

Professional Standards Committee (PSC) – 
Design Evaluations of Demountable Event 
Structures subcommittee  

Ronald (Ron) Koerth, P.Eng. Mar 11, 2016 – 
Dec 31, 2016 

Professional Standards Committee (PSC) – 
Design Evaluations of Demountable Event 
Structures subcommittee  

J. Albert Schepers, P.Eng. Mar 11, 2016 – 
Dec 31, 2016 

Professional Standards Committee (PSC) – 
Design Evaluations of Demountable Event 
Structures subcommittee  

James Wilkinson, P.Eng. Mar 11, 2016 – 
Dec 31, 2016 

Professional Standards Committee (PSC) – 
Design Evaluations of Demountable Event 
Structures subcommittee  

Mohamed El Semelawy, 
P.Eng. 

Mar 11, 2016 – 
Dec 31, 2016 

Professional Standards Committee (PSC) – 
Design Evaluations of Demountable Event 
Structures subcommittee (observer) 

 
The above volunteers for the Consulting Engineer Designations Committee (CEDC) – Toronto 
subcommittee and Experience Requirements Committee (ERC) have completed a formal 
application process and, in consultation with the Committee Advisors, were evaluated by the 
Director, People Development and approved by the Registrar to serve on the respective 
committee/subcommittee, in accordance with the PEO Committee and Task Force Policy 
(Section 7.4). As established by ERC, the new ERC members completed the Equity and 
Diversity Awareness module.  
 
The above volunteers for the Professional Standards Committee (PSC) - Design Evaluations of 
Demountable Event Structures subcommittee have completed a formal application process and 
were evaluated by the Director, People Development and the Professional Standards Committee 
(PSC) members. At the committee’s request, a summary of applicants’ qualifications is included 
for Council’s information, as presented in the Table below: 
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Name  PEO 
Experience  

MMAH Panel for 
Demountable 
Structures  

Experience 
Demountable 
Structures  

Employer  

Neil Kennedy  PSC member, 
Structural 
subcommittees  

No  Design Evaluation  WalterFedy  

Jim Wilkinson  Forensic 
subcommittee  

No  Design Evaluation  Wilkinson 
Technical 
Services  

Ron Koerth  Structural 
Assessment 
Bulletin  

No  Forensic Engineering  Giffin Koerth  

Tony Crimi   Yes, Chair  Codes & Standards  AC Consulting 
Solutions  

Albert 
Schepers  

 Yes  Design Evaluation  GS Engineering 
Consultants  

Jeff Archbold   Yes  Design Evaluation  Walters 
Forensic 
Engineering  

Mohamed El 
Semelawy 
(observer)  

Structural 
Assessment 
(observer)  

No  Government  MMAH  

 
Changes to the Roster – election of Chairs and Vice Chairs: 
 

First/Last Name 
Term 

[per Terms of 
Reference] 

Committee / Task Force 

Nancy Hill, P.Eng.  1-year term Awards Committee (AWC) Chair  
 

John Severino, P.Eng. 1-year term Awards Committee (AWC) Vice Chair 
 

Tony Cecutti, P.Eng.  2-year term Complaints Committee (COC) Chair (re-
elected in 2016) 

Chris Roney, P.Eng. 2-year term Complaints Committee (COC) Vice Chair 
(re-elected in 2016) 

Eric Nejat, P.Eng. 1-year term Consulting Engineer Designation 
Committee (CEDC) Chair (re-elected in 
2016) 

Douglas Barker, P.Eng. 1-year term Consulting Engineer Designation 
Committee (CEDC) Vice Chair (re-elected 
in 2016) 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (AUC) 2015/2016 WORK PLAN  
    
Purpose:  To approve the Audit Committee (AUC) 2015/2016 work plan. 
 
Motion to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)  
 
That Council approve the Audit Committee (AUC) 2015/2016 work plan as presented to the 
meeting at C-505-3.5, Appendix A. 

Prepared by: Chetan Mehta, MS, MBA – Manager, Financial Services and Business Planning 
Moved by: Ewald Kuczera, M.Sc., P.Eng. – Chair, Audit Committee 
 
1. Need for PEO Action 
Under the Committees and Task Forces Policy (Committees/Task Forces Operations, Item 3), 
each committee/ task force is to prepare an annual work plan for the following year by 
September 30 each year. 
 
One of the roles of Council under the Committees and Task Forces Policy (Role of Council, Item 
2), is to approve committee/task force mandates, Terms of Reference, annual work plans and 
human resources plans. The Audit Committee has submitted the annual work plan.   
 
2. Proposed Action / Recommendation 
That Council approve the Audit Committee work plan. 
 
3. Next Steps (if motion approved) 
The approved work plan will be posted on the PEO website and the committee will implement its 
plans.  
 
4. Peer Review & Process Followed 
Process  
Followed 

Committees and Task Forces Policy – Reference Guide, Section 3 - 
Committee and Task Force Operations 
• Item 3.3 - By September 30 each year, each committee/task force 

shall prepare an annual Work and Human Resources Plan for the 
following year.  

Council Identified 
Review 

N/A 

Actual Motion 
Review 

N/A 

 
5. Appendices 

• Appendix A – Audit Committee (AUC) 2015/2016 Work Plan 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (AUC) 

 
2015/2016 WORK PLAN  

 
Approved by Committee: November 24, 2015 Review Date: Annually 
Approved by Council: March 11, 2016 (TBC) Approved Budget: 

   $44,850  
 
Mandate 
[as approved by 
Council]: 

PEO By-law #1, section 51states: The Council shall lay before each Annual Meeting of 
the members a financial statement prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles for the previous fiscal year of the Association (made up of a Balance 
Sheet as at the end of such fiscal year and a Statement of revenue and expenses and 
changes in net assets and a Statement of cash flows for such fiscal year) together with 
the report of the Association’s auditors on the financial statement.  
 
PEO By-law #1, section 52 states: The members of each annual meeting shall appoint 
one or more auditors who shall be chartered accountants to hold office until the next 
annual meeting and if an appointment is not so made, the auditor in office shall continue 
in office until a successor is appointed. 
 
In order to allow Council to fulfill the above-noted regulations, the Audit Committee’s 
mandate approved by Council is: 

1. to oversee the external audits of the Association’s financial statements, the 
statement of the pension fund and the Statement of Common Area Maintenance  
costs by the independent auditor;  

2. to oversee the work of the independent auditor and recommend the appointment 
or replacement of the independent auditor; and 

3. to monitor and recommend to council any revisions to the Accounting and 
Financial reporting policies, processes and Systems of Internal Control. 

 
Terms of 
Reference 
[Key duties]: 

 
The Audit Committee will: 

a. review and evaluate the audit scope, audit findings and financial statements 
of the Association and recommend to Council approval of the Association’s 
annual financial statements and auditor’s report thereon; 

b. review and evaluate the independence and performance of the Association's 
independent auditors and recommend to Council the appointment of the 
independent auditor; 

c. review, evaluate and obtain reasonable assurance that the accounting and 
financial reporting processes and systems of internal control are operating 
effectively to produce accurate and timely financial information and 
statements; and 

d. request if necessary  periodic reviews of the accounting and financial 
reporting processes and systems of internal control; 

e. report to Council matters which come to the attention of the Committee which 
are considered material or relevant. 
The Chair of the Audit Committee will be responsible for presenting to Council 
annually in March, a report on the review of financial results and financial 
statements by the Audit Committee and recommending the approval of the 
annual Financial Statements and Appointment of Auditors. 

Tasks, 
Outcomes and 
Success 
Measures: 

Task/Activity: Outcomes, Purpose 
Success measures 

Meeting date: 

Refer to Appendix A   

Inter-committee 
collaboration: 

Volunteer Expense Claim Appeal Subcommittee 
Finance Committee 

Stakeholders: Members, Deloitte, Government, Public 
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        Appendix A 
 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

  WORK PLAN – ANNUAL TASKS 
 
Approved by Committee:  November 24, 2015       Review Date: Annually  
Approved by Council:   March 11, 2016 (TBC)                                                                         
 

 

MEETING 
DATE 

TASK/ACTIVITY OUTCOMES, PURPOSE  
SUCCESS MEASURES  

May Elect Chair, Vice-Chair of Audit Committee 
and appointment of Volunteer Expenses 
Appeals Sub-committee. 

Establish effective leadership. 

Aug Review and approve bi-annually the 
Committee Terms of Reference and annually 
the Committee work plan.  Submit to Council 
for approval. 

Review scope of work performed by 
Committee and communicate to 
Council. 

Nov Review with the auditors the Audit service 
plan including the scope of the audit, areas of 
risk, the materiality levels proposed, audit 
staffing, timetable and other items.  Draft 
engagement letter should be included and 
reviewed. 

Ensure a quality audit that adequately 
addresses risks. 

Nov Receive a report annually from the auditors 
with respect to their independence. 

Canadian Audit Standard confirms 
independence of auditors. 

Only as 
required 

Review any changes to Accounting policies 
and/or GAAP and impact to PEO (and, if 
necessary, report to Council). 

Determine impact of changes to PEO 
and manage the risk.  Communicate to 
Council, where necessary. 

Only as 
required 

Review and obtain reasonable assurance 
that the internal control and information 
systems are operating effectively. 

Ensure existing controls and IS 
perform appropriately and detect and 
prevent fraud. 

Only as 
required 

Review and evaluate the accounting and 
financial reporting processes and systems of 
internal control. 

Ensure management and financial 
information used by financial and 
senior management is accurate and 
timely. 

Only as 
required 

Review, evaluate and approve internal 
control and financial policies. 

Ensure the development and 
implementation of high quality policies 
that manage risk effectively and 
protect stakeholder value. 

Mar (need to 
change date 
in Invest S/C 
TOR) 

Receive report annually by Investment Sub-
committee regarding pension 
plan/investments.   

Effective management of audit. 
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Mar Review PEO’s annual financial statements 
with Management and the auditors. 

To gain reasonable assurance that the 
statements are accurate, complete 
and represent fairly PEO’s financial 
position and performance in 
accordance with GAAP. 

Mar Receive/review the auditors’ reports on their 
audit of the Financial Statements.  

To gain reasonable assurance that the 
statements are accurate, complete 
and represent fairly PEO’s financial 
position and performance in 
accordance with GAAP. 

Mar Confirm with auditors that PEO is in 
compliance with laws and regulations which 
materially impact the financial statements 
(tax (statutory, etc.), legal, financial reporting, 
etc.) 

 

Mar Oversee and review the performance of the 
auditors. 

Accountability of auditors, 
performance and quality of the work. 

Mar Recommend to Council the appointment and 
remuneration of the auditors, subject to the 
tendering process every five years. 

Helps fulfill mandate of PEO By-law 
#1, section 51. 

TBD Tender process for Audit Services (2016) Adequate value for services and good 
business practice. 

TBD Consider any matters relating to the financial 
management/audit of PEO referred to the 
Committee by Council 

Ensure that Council is able to fulfill it’s 
mandate. 
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In Camera Session 
 
 

In-camera sessions are closed to the public 
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 Engineers of Ontario 

 

Aptify - Update 
    
Purpose:   To provide Council with a current project status update. 
 
No motion required 
 
Prepared by: Gerard McDonald, P.Eng., Registrar  
 
 
Gerard McDonald, PEO Registrar, will provide a verbal report. 
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505TH Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 

PEO Strategic Plan 2015-2017 - Update 
    
Purpose:   To inform Council of progress in implementing the Strategic Plan and its associated 
Strategies. 
 
No motion required 
Prepared by: Gerard McDonald, P.Eng. , Registrar  
 
 
1. Status Update 

 
A Strategic Plan is a fundamental tool and resource used to orient and align the work of an 
entity. It also provides senior management an essential means of leading and managing the 
organization.   
 
At its meeting of November 21, 2014 Council approved a three year Startegic Plan for PEO 
along with associated Strategies.  Council further instructed that the Registrar to provide 
updates on the progress of realizing the approved Strategies at the March, June and 
September Council meetings for the duration of the Plan period. 
 
As part of the annual priority setting exercise eighteen additional strategies have been 
identified for inclusion in the plan as follows: 
 
Strategy 1.6 -  Supervising and Delegating Engineering Practice Policy 

Implications Review 
Strategy 2.4 -  Communications Infrastructure Engineering outreach and licensure 
Strategy 4.9 -  Continuing Professional Competence [CP]2 Task Force 
Strategy 5.7 -  Practitioner Research Project 
Strategy 7.6 -  Review and refine voluntary undertakings process employed by 

Complaints Committee within complaints process. 
Strategy 8.8 - Develop Enforcement Reporting Guide for use by general public 

and members 
Strategy 8.9 - Develop plan for enhanced enforcement in manufacturing sector 
Strategy 8.10 -  Develop plan for enforcement outreach to key stakeholders. 
Strategy 9.2 -  Tribunal Panel Composition and Size 
Strategy 9.3 -  Modernization of tribunal processes on practice directions and 

webpage information 
Strategy 9.4 -  On-line webinar training programs for adjudicators 
Strategy 10.2 -  Pilot project on developing a performance standard to address 

MOECC modernization of approvals under the Environmental 
Protection Act 

Strategy 15.7 -  Implementation of online expense project 
Strategy 17.5 -  Upgrade hydraulic parking garage elevator 
Strategy 18.11 -  Develop CASL Compliance Tracking 
Strategy 19.10 -  Conduct GLP Review 
Strategy 19.11 -  Implement leadership development and volunteer on-boarding 

modules 

C-505-5.2 
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Strategy 20.7 -  Support Council Term LImits Task Force. 
 
The fifth update on Plan progress is found at Appendix A – Strategic Plan Update 5. 

 
Appendices 

• Appendix A - Strategic Plan Update 5 
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505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
LEGISLATION COMMITTEE UPDATE  
    
Purpose:   To inform Council of the  recent activities of the Legislation Committee.   
Motion(s) to consider:  
 
none required  
 
 
Councillor Fraser, Chair of the Legislation Committee, will provide a report on activities of the 
Legislation Committee.     
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 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
   
REGIONAL COUNCILLORS COMMITTEE (RCC) UPDATE 
 
Purpose:    To update Counci l  on RCC activi t ies 
 
No motion required 
 

Prepared by:  Matt Ng.,  P.Eng. ,  Manager,  Chapters  
 
 
Counci l lor Sadr,  Chair of the Regional Counci l lors Committee (RCC) ,  wil l  provide a 
report on act iv it ies  of the RCC.     
 
 
Appendices 
At its  August 2010 meeting,  the Executive Committee, by consensus,  agreed that a 
Regional Counci l lors Report,  sett ing out chapter issues that were approved at each 
Regional Congress to go forward to Regional Council lors Committee, be included as 
an information item on future Council  agendas.  
 

• Appendix A – Regional  Congress Open Issues Report.  
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Regional Congress Open Issues 

Issue Date 

Opened

Motion Text Revision

Date

Update 

Description

RecommendationMover

Seconder

Action ByMeeting Closed

Western

55 Sep/2014 WRC requests RCC to 
establish a task force to 
consider recommended 
changes and potential 
implementation of the 
proposed structured EIT 
program as presented in 
the PENTA Forum 2014, 
so to address Western 
Open Issue 49 by 2015 
PEO AGM.

09-Feb-16A progress update 
was not available due 
to life changing events 
of Task Force 
members.
M. Ng to contact S. 
McGuire regarding the 
possibility of her 
involvement in 
discussing this issue at 
the VLC as the 
structured EIT 
program is one of the 
topics for the 2016 
VLC.

Remain OpenW Kershaw, D 
Al-Jailawi

Western 
Congress

Tuesday, February 23, 2016 Page 1 of 7
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Issue Date 

Opened

Motion Text Revision

Date

Update 

Description

RecommendationMover

Seconder

Action ByMeeting Closed

56 Sep/2015 WRC requests RCC to 
request the PEO Licensing 
Committee to clarify the 
background associated 
with 30 hour supervised 
EIT experience per month 
requirement; to provide 
information on what is an 
acceptable way for how an 
EIT can get someone to 
vouch for his/her 
experience in the absence 
of a P.Eng. direct 
supervisor. The region 
further asks the committee 
to provide an explanation 
on why this is changed, 
and with the intent to 
change it back to what it 
was before.

09-Feb-16Ongoing. Chapter 
Manager to draft the 
letter communicating 
this open issue for 
RCC Chair to send to 
the PEO Licensing 
Committee. Before the 
letter is sent, it will be 
presented and 
reviewed at the Mar 
12, 2016 RCC 
meeting.

Remain OpenM Irvine, N 
Birch

Western 
Congress
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Issue Date 

Opened

Motion Text Revision

Date

Update 

Description

RecommendationMover

Seconder

Action ByMeeting Closed

West Central

29 Feb/2014 WCRC wants RCC to 
review the invitation and 
attendance policy of 
Chapter AGM and 
Meetings where a senior 
regional Councillor is 
seeking re-election, and 
where a senior regional 
Councillor is seeking 
election to other council 
positions.

03-Feb-16Ongoing. Chapter 
Manager to present the 
updated guideline to the 
RCC at its March 12, 
2016 meeting.

Remain OpenF Datoo, S 
Naseer

West 
Central 

Congress

32 Jun/2014 WCRC wants RCC to 
implement means of 
improving the knowledge 
new licensee have with 
regard to the role and 
mandate of PEO in society, 
its chapter system and 
volunteerism in general for 
the Association.

03-Feb-16Ongoing. Nothing to 
report at this time.

Remain OpenS Favell, J 
Chisholm

West 
Central 

Congress

Tuesday, February 23, 2016 Page 3 of 7



Issue Date 

Opened

Motion Text Revision

Date

Update 

Description

RecommendationMover

Seconder

Action ByMeeting Closed

33 Feb/2016 WHEREAS: PEO requires 
all volunteers including the 
members of the PEO 
Chapters Boards to sign 
PEO Confidentiality 
Agreement by which PEO 
acknowledge that 
volunteers  may  have an 
access to personal and 
other confidential  
information  on behalf  of 
PEO ;

AND WHEREAS: By 
signing the Confidentiality 
Agreement volunteers, 
including PEO Chapters 
Boards, acknowledge 
reading,  understanding  
and  agree to comply with  
section  38 of the 
Professional  Engineering 
Act and PEO's; Privacy 
Policy and Privacy Sub-
Policy on Privacy  
Safeguards;

AND WHEREAS: Specific 
information about PEO 
Chapter Board members 
and Chapters members 
such as members' e-mail 
addresses, members' 
disciplines and members 
designation (P.Eng., LL, 
Temporary, EIT or Retired ) 
is required to enable 
effective communication 
management with 
Chapter's members, other 
Chapter Boards  and avoid  
communication  
bottlenecks  and flooding;

AND WHEREAS: Chapter 
Boards are currently using 
event registration lists to 
collect and compile partial 

03-Feb-16Motion Tabled. G 
Abelmessih to re-draft 
the motion to be more 
concise and to take into 
account the lists and 
chapter emails is 
curavailable through 
Campaigner and on 
PEO website

G Abelmessih, 
W Turnbull

West 
Central

Tuesday, February 23, 2016 Page 4 of 7



Issue Date 

Opened

Motion Text

information from members attending events organized by the Chapters which means that the Chapter committee chairs are limiting 
their communication to those who attend Chapters events or contacting the Chapter committee chairs and officers using chapters web 
sites or social media links and action that leads to ineffective communication with Chapters'  members;

AND WHEREAS: Chapters own internet domains and publish their own websites hosted by service providers independent from PEO, 
with the capability to send secure e-mails with no extra costs or limitations;

AND WHEREAS: The PEO "campaigner®" e-mail service provider used by PEO has been set only for four Mailing lists (EIT, PENG 
email only, Non-email  list, and All Members email only), and with the  current
set-up no attachments can be sent to the recipients.  In addition to these limitations, it is an expensive   as
each e-mail costs PEO ¢0.03 I am not sure if it is $0.03 or ¢0.03) per e-mail per a recipient so for an e¬ mail blast for 6000 members 
(Mississauga Chapter for example) the cost is $18 or $180 per e-mail! With such communication limitations and constraints, Chapter 
committee chairs are not able to communicate effectively with Chapter members;

AND WHEREAS: The PEO Chapters Staff refused to provide member information to Chapter Board based on the fear of  members  
complaints  about  unsolicited  emails  or use  the  provided  information  for personal business not related to PEO activities. Both 
reasons stressed by the Chapters Manager are not legitimate as for the first given reason, all e-mails send by Chapter Boards and 
Chapter committee chairs will have the same footnote  attached  to all  PEO communications  with  the members;  as for the second 
given reason the Chapters Manager assumes possibility of breach of trust which why PEO ask a ll volunteers  to sign  the  
Confidentiality  Agreement;

THEREFORE  BE IT SUBMITTED THAT:
The WCR to ask the RCC to instruct the Chapters Staff to keep, maintain and provide the Chapter Boards, upon request with up-to 
date lists with members information and Chapter Boards contact  information including "first name, last name, gender, e-mail address, 
Native Chapter, designation and engineering discipline".

Tuesday, February 23, 2016 Page 5 of 7



Issue Date 

Opened

Motion Text Revision

Date

Update 

Description

RecommendationMover

Seconder

Action ByMeeting Closed

Northern

37 Jun/2015 NRC requests RCC to 
establish a task force to 
consider the AGM Term 
Limits Motion and make 
recommendations back to 
RCC.

10-Feb-16 ClosedS Schelske, S 
Sennanyana

Northern 
Congress

38 Sep/2015 NRC requests RCC to 
recommend to Council to 
establish a task force to 
look at the size of the 
council make-up with 
reference to the James 
Dunsmuir’s article in 
Engineering Dimensions 
May/June 2015 issue.

10-Feb-16

Motion was brought to 
Council and was 
approved. A six member 
committee has been 
established. Motion was 
closed. Moved by M 
Barker, seconded by R 
Theiss. CARRIED

Remain OpenZ White, D 
Ch'ng

Northern 
Congress

39 Feb/2016 NRC requests RCC to 
recommend to council to 
rescind the motion of a 
membership referendum 
for continuous professional 
development (CPD) 
program.  It is the opinion 
of the NRC that PEO 
should have a mandatory 
CPD program for its 
members and administered 
by PEO.

10-Feb-16M Barker, L 
Betuzzi

Northern 
Congress

Tuesday, February 23, 2016 Page 6 of 7

New open Issue.

This item has been 
sent back to RCC for 
further discussion at 
its March 12th 
meeting



Issue Date 

Opened

Motion Text Revision

Date

Update 

Description

RecommendationMover

Seconder

Action ByMeeting Closed

112 Jun/2015 Be it resolved that PEO Council 
approach the Canadian Forces in 
an effort to encourage Licensure of 
these otherwise qualified officers.
WHEREAS the PEO is the body 
responsible for the licensure of 
Engineers in the Provence of 
Ontario as detailed in the 
Professional Engineers act, and;
WHEREAS some 200 Engineers 
per year graduate and serve as 
Military Officers in the Canadian 
Forces, but are exempt from the 
requirement for the P.Eng. Licence. 
Those that would meet the 
Academic Requirements for 
Licensure, are usually, but not 
exclusively, employed doing 
Professional Engineering work, 
and; WHEREAS these Officers are 
often unable to fulfill the listed 
requirements for Experience during 
their initial employment, for reasons 
not under their control, such as:

1.T hey may not be employed as an
Engineer, they have no choice
since the Canadian Forces employs
them according to the needs of the
forces, not the personal needs of
the individual,
2.T hey may not be supervised by a
Professional Engineer,
3.T hey may not be employed in the
field of their Under-graduate
Degree, or
4.They may be restricted from
describing the nature of their
employment.

17-Feb-16This item is on hold until 
the RMC Dean returns 
from his sabbatical.

Remain OpenD Hamilton, J 
Podrebarac

Eastern 
Congress

Tuesday, February 23, 2016 Page 7 of 7

Eastern

East Central No open issues for the East Central 
Region.



Briefing Note – Information  

 
 
505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 

(CP)² Update 
    
Purpose:   To provide Council with an update on (CP)² activities.   
 
No motion required 
 
Prepared by: Warren Turnbull, P.Eng. 
 
 
 
Warren Turnbull will provide a verbal report. 
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Briefing Note – Information 

505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
   
COMPLAINTS, DISCIPLINE, LICENSING AND REGISTRATION STATISTICS 
 
Purpose: To provide a statistical report to Council regarding Complaints, Discipline, Licensing 
and Registration. 
 
No motion required 
 
Prepared by: Dale Power, Secretariat Administrator 
 
 
1. Need for PEO Action 

 
• Standing report was requested at the September 2009 meeting of Council. 

 
2. Appendices 

• Appendix A – Complaints Statistics 
• Appendix B – Discipline Statistics 
• Appendix C – Licensing Statistics 
• Appendix D – Registration Statistics 
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COMPLAINTS & INVESTIGATION STATISTICS 
 
        
 2013 

 
2014 

 
2015 

(Dec. 31) 
 

COC’s Caseload 

Filed Complaints1

135  not disposed of by COC at previous 
year-end 127 105 

Complaints Filed (PEAct s. 24. 1(a)) during the Year 66 69 62 

Total Caseload in the Year 201 196 167 

Total Filed Complaints Disposed of by COC in the Year 
(for details see COC’s Disposition of Complaints below) 74 91 81 

Total Filed Complaints Pending for COC Disposition 
(for details see Status of Active Filed Complaints below) 127 105 86 

COC’s Disposition of Complaints 

Direct that the matter be referred, in whole or in part, to 
the Discipline Committee. (PEAct s. 24. 2(a)) 3 6 7 

Direct that the matter not be referred. (PEAct s. 24. 2(b)) 47 62 56 

Take such action as COC considers appropriate in the 
circumstances and that is not inconsistent with this Act or 
the regulations or by-laws. (PEAct s. 24. 2(c)) 

24 23 18 

COC’s Timeliness Regarding the Disposition of the Complaint2 

Complaint disposed of within 90 days of filing 0 0 0 

Complaint disposed of between 91-180 days of filing 30 17 6 

Complaint disposed of after more than 180 days of filing 44 74 75 

COC Processing Time – Days from Complaint Filed to COC Disposition                         12 mo rolling          
                                                                                                                                                                                                 average         

Average # Days 362 655 571 

Minimum # Days  105 136 91 

Median # Days  183 444 308 

Maximum # Days  1408 1601 1686 

                                                 
1 Signed Complaint Form filed with the Registrar.  
2 Days from Complaint Filed to date COC Decision is signed by COC Chair. 

C-505-5.6 
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Status of Active Filed Complaints 
 
Active Filed Complaints    - Total 86 

Complaints filed more than 180 days ago 45 45 

Waiting for Approval and Reason regarding COC Decision 10  

Complaints under active consideration by COC 17 

Completed Investigation ready for COC consideration 0 

Regulatory Compliance Investigation 18 

Complaints filed between 91-180 days ago 24 24 

Waiting for Approval and Reason regarding COC Decision 8  

Complaints under active consideration by COC 1 

Completed Investigation ready for COC consideration 0 

Regulatory Compliance Investigation 15 

Complaints filed within the past 90 days 17 17 

Waiting for Approval and Reason regarding COC Decision 0  

Complaints under active consideration by COC 0 

Completed Investigation ready for COC consideration 3 

Regulatory Compliance Investigation 14 

 
Note: 
Review by Complaints Review Councillor (PEAct s. 26.  (s)) 
Where a complaint respecting a member of the Association or a holder of a certificate of 
authorization, a temporary licence, a provisional licence or a limited licence has not been 
disposed of by the Complaints Committee within ninety days

 

 after the complaint is filed with the 
Registrar, upon application by the complainant or on his or her own initiative the Complaints 
Review Councillor may review the treatment of the complaint by the Complaints Committee. 

Glossary of Terms: 
 
Complaint Filed – Signed Complaint Form filed with the Registrar. 
 
Investigation Complete –  Investigation Summary document prepared and complaint file ready 

for COC consideration 
 



 
 
 
DISCIPLINE STATISTICS – March 2016 Council Meeting Report 
 

               2013              2014        2015             2016 
Discipline Phase 

                   (as of Feb 19)               

Matters Referred to Discipline 3 7 8 2 
Matters Pending (Caseload) 10 12** 17 18 
Written Final Decisions Issued 10  6  5* 1 
     
DIC Activity     
Pre-Hearing Conferences Held 4 4 6 1 
Hearings Phase commenced 
(but not completed) 

3 1 2 0 

Hearings Phase completed 6 3 5 2 
 
*One matter was stayed in 2012, and a motion regarding costs was heard in January 2013. 
Note: This matter was still counted into the number of “Matters Pending (Caseload)” in 
2012, but no longer counted in 2013. Decision on motion (hearing in January 2013) was 
issued by Panel on May 15, 2015. 
** By a decision of the Divisional Court one matter was sent back for re-hearing by a 
differently constituted panel. 
 
 
Table “A” – Timeline summary for matters in which written Decision and Reasons were 
issued in 2016 
 
File Number Hearing date(s) Date of written 

Decision  
Approx. length of 
time from the last 
Hearing date to 
date of written 
Decision 

L05 12-03 January 12, 2016 January 19, 2016 1 week 
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PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS ONTARIO
P. ENG. STATISTICS

2016

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC TOTAL
Members on Register

  Beginning 80,134 80,134

  New Members 133 133

  Reinstatements 50 50

  Resignation - Regular (37) (37)

                    - Retirees (17) (17)

  Deceased (45) (45)

  Deletions - Regular (98) (98)

               - Retirees (3) (3)

Total Ending 80,117 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 80,117

Members on Register Summary

  Full Fee Members 65,960 65,960
  Partial Fee Remission - Retired 12,414 12,414
  Partial Fee Remission - Health 195 195
  Fee Remission - Maternity and/or Parental   Leave , 

Postgraduate Studies and other 1,548 1,548

Total Membership 80,117 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 80,117

Membership Licence

  Net Applications Received 286 286
  Applications Rec'd FCP 159 159

Female Members on 

  Register - Beginning 8,351 8,351
  New Female Engineers 13 13

 
Total Female Engineers 8,364 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,364

C-505-5.6-App C



PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS ONTARIO
ENGINEER IN TRAINING - STATISTICS

2016

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC TOTAL

Recorded

   Beginning of Month 12,406 12,406

  New Recordings 117 117

  New Recordings FCP 327 327

  Reinstatements 19 19

  P. Eng. Approvals (42) (42)

  Resignations/Deletions (94) (94)

  Lapse/Non Payment (121) (121)

  Deceased 0 0

Total Ending 12,612 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,612

Female Recording on

Register

  Beginning 2,442 2,442

  New Female Recordings 47 47

Total Female Recordings 2,489 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,489



PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS ONTARIO
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION - STATISTICS

2016

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC TOTAL

C of A Holders - Beginning
  Regular 5,248 5,248
  Temporary 44 44

  Sub Total 5,292 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,292

New Certificates Issued
  Regular 38 38
  Temporary 0 0

  Sub Total 38 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 38

Reinstatements
  Regular 2 2
  Temporary 0 0

  Sub Total 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Deletions
  Closed (31) (31)
  Suspended, Revoked and other 0 0
  Temporary (9) (9)

  Sub Total (40) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (40)

Total Ending
  Regular 5,257 5,257
  Temporary 35 35

5,292 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,292



PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS ONTARIO
CONSULTANTS - STATISTICS

2016

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC TOTAL

Consultants

  Beginning of Period 1,089 1,089

  New Designations 0 0

  Reinstatements 0 0

  Deletions (4) (4)
 

Total Ending 1,085 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,085

 



PEO STATISTICS
APPLICATIONS RECEIVED

2001 - 2016
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

JANUARY 328 341 539 440 364 316 308 372 336 393 414 397 440 530 561 445
FEBRUARY 260 222 260 345 259 319 257 234 338 276 278 384 422 380 422
MARCH 136 234 169 298 340 316 272 345 379 373 453 398 428 395 368
APRIL 225 277 279 304 269 291 280 381 294 239 338 297 414 361 356
MAY 403 299 394 425 270 298 293 278 279 303 314 353 394 324 292
JUNE 158 220 221 337 264 273 279 332 320 306 322 374 388 356 472
JULY 236 265 200 297 286 254 355 460 395 332 398 482 529 486 555
AUGUST 248 269 357 272 301 285 367 413 326 358 493 508 505 495 547
SEPTEMBER 270 352 455 382 254 251 333 415 402 383 451 388 512 542 466
OCTOBER 222 206 257 253 263 282 396 419 428 372 469 540 646 568 648
NOVEMBER 232 238 190 236 304 226 505 430 340 497 481 503 525 416 565
DECEMBER 184 178 140 261 168 260 248 334 270 336 295 432 491 392 576

TOTAL 2,902 3,101 3,461 3,850 3,342 3,371 3,893 4,413 4,107 4,168 4,706 5,056 5,694 5,245 5,828 445
MONTHLY AVERAGE 242 258 288 321 279 281 324 368 342 347 392 421 475 437 486 445
YEAR TO DATE 2,902 3,101 3,461 3,850 3,342 3,371 3,893 4,413 4,107 4,168 4,706 5,056 5,694 5,245 5,828 445
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Applications Received - Year To 
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REGISTRATION STATISTICS – March 2016 Council Meeting Report 
 

                2014                2015                   2016 
Registration Phase 

                                                                                                            (as of Feb 19)              

Requests for Hearing 5 4 1 
Premature Applications 
(no Notice of Proposal) 

1 2 1 

Matters Pending (Caseload) 10 10 10 
Written Final Decisions Issued 3 2 0 
Appeals to the Divisional Court 1* 1 0 
    
REC Activity    
Pre-Hearing Conferences Held 6 3 0 
Hearings Phase completed 2 2 0 
 
*The Divisional Court upheld the decision of the Registration Committee 
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Briefing Note – Information 

 
505th Meeting of Council – March 10-11, 2016 Association of Professional 
 Engineers of Ontario 

 
   
COUNCILLORS ITEMS 

a) Notices of Future Agenda Items 
b) Councillors' Questions 

 
Purpose:  To provide Councillors with an opportunity to provide notice of items for inclusion 
on the next Council meeting agenda, and to ask questions. 
 
No motion required 
  
Prepared by:  Dale Power, Secretariat Administrator 

C-505-5.7 
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